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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

________________________________________________________________________ X
MEREDITH CORPORATION, THE E.W. SCRIPPS :
COMPANY, SCRIPPS MEDIA, INC., HOAK MEDIA, : 09 Civ. 9177(PAE)
LLC, HOAK MEDIA OF NEBRASKA LLC, and HOAK :
MEDIA OF DAKOTA, LLC, : OPINION & ORDER

Plaintiffs, :

-V- :

SESAC LLC and JOHN DOES-50,

Defendants :
________________________________________________________________________ X

PAUL A. ENGELMAYER, District Judge:

This lawsuitis the latest in #ine dating to the 1940s that hasleallenged, under federal
antitrust law, theractices operforming rights organizations (“PROs”) thsduecollective (or
“blanket”) licenses tothe rightsto perform thecopyrighted music of their membess affiliates
In the United Stateshére are three such PROSor more thab0 yearsthe licensing practices
of the two largest-the American Society of Composers, Authors and Publishers (“ASCAP”),
andBroadcast Music, Inc. (“BMI)-have been subject to consent decrees entered into with the
United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) following antitrust litigatibhese decrees have
imposed significant restrictions on these PR@Besanclude establishing a “rate court” to set
reasonabléees for performancdécenses when the PRO and the licensee cannot;agrpering
that the PRO’s right tssue performance licerst® its membersmusic be norexclusive;and
requiring that alternativemeans of licensing such mudie madeealisticallyavailable to

would-be licensees. These terms have factprechinently in the court decisions thsitce
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1950, have uniformly reged antitrust challenges to ASCAP’s and BMI&e of blanket
licenses

This case involves the thirdnd smallesPRQ SESAC LLC (*SESAC”) Unlike
ASCAP and BMJ] SESAChas never been subjecta@onsentecree However,n the years
leading up to 2008, SESACIatitude to set the terntd musiclicenses was otherwisirited:
first by a series of industrwide agreements it negotiated with the television broadedsstry;
later,for the period April 2005 througbecember 312007,by a contractuadluty that bound
SESACto arbitrate its disputes witlicenseestations. Since January 2008, however, SESAC’s
range of motion has no longer been tmisbited SESAC has been free unilaterally to set the
terms on which it will issukcenses to perform the music as more than 20,008ffiliated
COMposers.

The issue in tis putativeclass actions whethelISESAC's licensing practicesnce 2008
have violatedederal antitrust law Raintiffs aregroups oflocal television stations Theysue
SESAC and 50 ats affiliated composerswho are name@s*“John Doe” defendantsThe
plaintiffs allege thatin practice theymust obtain licenses for someusicin SESAC’srepertory
Thatis becaus&SESAC'srepertory idarge and includeworks so ubiquitouthatsomeare
inevitably embedded in showsatithe stationscquire and wish to air.

Plaintiffs contend that, since 2008ESAG with its affiliates’ assenthas taken steps
makeillusory ary alternative tdheblanket licensét sells, whichconveys the right to play the
music ofall SESACaffiliates. Havinginsulated this produd¢tom competitionand forcedocal
televisionstations to acquire,iplaintiffs allege SESAC has set an exorbitant price for that “all

or nothing” license, even thouglationshaveno interesin buying the rights téhe entiretyof

! They are Meredith Corporation (“Meredith”); the E.W. Scripps Company; Sddepsa, Inc.;
Hoak Media, LLC; Hoak Media of Nebraska LLC; and Hoak Media of Dakota, LLC.
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SESAC's repertoryPlaintiffs assert that SESAC and its affiliates hthereby violated § 1 of
the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1, by combining to unlawfully restrain;teadie§ 2of the same
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2, by conspiring to monopolize the markethie performanceghtsto the
musical works within SESAC’sepertory. Plaintiffs also assee monopolization claim against
SESACunder 8§ 2.

Discovery isnow complete.SESAC moves for summary judgment. For the reasons
that follow, that motion is deed as to althree counts, save that, the§ 1 claim,the Court
grants summary judgment to defendantsvo ways that narrow that clainSpecifically the
Courtrejecs plaintiffs’ (1) per setheory of liability, and(2) claim of an agreemett restrain
trade amongll 20,000-plus SESAC affiliates, as opposed to amongtbelyarsmallersubset
(under 1%)f affiliateswho were party to aupplemental affiliation agreemenith SESAC.

l. Background

A. Facts®

2 Because plaintiffs at no point identified or served any “John Doe” defendantsCS& 8
lone defendant to move for summary judgment, although the arguments it makes appear to run
equally to the benefit of its “John Doe” affiliates.

% The Court’s account of the underlyifagtsof this case is drawn from the parties’ submissions
in support of and in opposition to the instant moti@pecifically, Defendant SESAC LLC’s
Statement of Undisputed Facts Pursuant to Local Rule 56.1 (“Def. 56.1") (Dkt. 13mhjifi3lai
Response to Defendant’s Statement of Facts Pursuant to Local Rule 56.1 (“PloRedp. t
56.1") (Dkt. 134); Defendants SESAC LLC’s Reply Statement to Plaintifisal Rule 56.1
Responses (“Def. Reply 56.1”) (Dkt. 137); Plaintiffs’ Local Rule 56.1 Supplemeiati@instnt

of Undisputed Facts (“Pl. 56.1") (Dkt. 133); DefendaBRSAC LLC’s Response to Plaintiffs’
Local Rule 56.1 Supplemental Statement of Undisputed Facts (“Def. Resp. to Pl. 56.1") (Dkt
136); the Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendant SESAC LLC’s Motion for Summary
Judgment (“Def. Br.”) (Dkt. 130); Plaintiffs’ Memorandum of Law in Opposition téeDdant
SESAC, LLC’s Motion for Summary Judgment (“PI. Br.”) (Dkt. 132); the CorrectgdyRe
Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendant SESAC LLC’s Motion for Summary Judgment
(“Def. Reply Br.”) (Dkt. 135); the Declaration of Susan J. Kohlmann in Support SASE

LLC’s Motion for Summary Judgment (“*Kohlmann Decl.”) and accompanying exhtbés;
Declaration of Eric S. Hochstadt in Support of Plaintiffs’ Opposition to DefendeBASE
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This case involves the process by which local television stations acquire threnpede
licenses necessary to permit them lawfully to broadcast programs cogteamyrighted music.
Plaintiffs claim antitrust violationsrising out of the terms under whiSiESAC has aggregated

such licenseand offeredhenfor sale. To understantheseclaims and SESAC’s defenséss

LLC’s Motion for Summary Judgment (“Hochstadt Decl.”) and accompanying éshanid the
Supplemental Declaration of Susan J. Kohlmann in Further Support of SESAC LLC’s Motion
for Summary Judgment (“Kohlman Supp. Decl.”) and accompanying exh@istions to a
party’s 56.1 statement incore by reference the documents cited therein. Where facts stated
in a party’s 56.1 statement are supported by testimonial or documentary evidencaieadyle

a conclusory statement by the other party without citation to conflicting teséhoon
documentary evidence, the Court finds such facts to be 8eeS.D.N.Y. Local Rule 56.1(c)
(“Each numbered paragraph in the statement of material facts set forth in¢heestatequired

to be served by the moving party will be deemed to be admitted for purposes of the motion
unless specifically controverted by a correspondingly numbered paragraphtatengest
required to be served by the opposing partyd’)at 56.1(d) (“Each statement by the movant or
opponent . . . controverting any statement of material fact[ ] must be followed toyncita
evidence which would be admissible, set forth as required by Fed. R. Civ. P’)56(c)

The parties each challenge the other'seFa6.1 statement. Plaintiffs attempt to justify their
submission of a supplemental 56.1 statement by arguing that SESAC “has prasented
incomplete record to the Court.” Pl. 56.1 at 1. SESAC characterizes plainfiffsission as

an “unnecessary anchproper submission that distracts from the undisputed record of material
facts set forth in SESAC’s Statement of Undisputed Facts Pursuant to Loe&@@RLil; it asks

the Court to disregard plaintiffs’ supplemental statement for several red3ehsResp. to PI.

56.1 at 1-2. SESAC also makes specific objections to aspects of plaintiffs’ supialiebtel
statement, as well as to plaintiffs’ responses to SESAC'’s statement.

The Court has carefully considered both parties’ arguments and competingafériests. As
to SESAC’s 56.1 statement, many of plaintiffs’ responses consist of improperesatyom
recitations of different facts; where plaintiffs have not cited an evideriigsig to contest a
factually supported statement by SESAC, the Courtdian that statement as established. As
to plaintiffs’ supplemental 56.1 statement, the Court has found certain discreteestts related
in it to be germane and factually supported; where defendants have not refutdddise siee
Court has taken them as true. However, many of plaintiffs’ 56.1 statementpaspem They
are argumentative or immaterial, rely on inadmissible hearsay, fail to cfiering evidence,
and/or marshal evidence in a manner perhaps appropriate for a legal brief, butara® fL
statement. As to other facts, plaintiffs needlessly repackage facts adeqddtelysed in
SESAC'’s 56.1 statement. Where plaintiffs’ 56.1 statement is deficient in sushtwayourt
has not relied on it. The 56.1 statements on whiclCthet has relied are those cited herein.
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necessary to explain timeeans byvhich music performance licenses are soldguchstations,
both in general andy SESACspecifically.
1. Television Stations’ Need for Music Performance Licenses

Almost all television programs contain mysiheher as the central focus of a feature
performanceastheme music played at the program’s opening and closiragioterspersear
interstitialbackground musiased“to undersore or heighten certain moods, change the pace or
otherwise enhance the desired effect of the progrdunited States VASCAR No. 13 Civ. 95
(WCC) (MHD), 1993 WL 60687, at *2S.D.N.Y. Marchl, 1993). Most such music is
copyrighted undefederalcopyright law,seel7 U.S.C. 88 170&t seq.Def. 56.1 1 1-2; PI.
Re9. to Def. 56.1 1 2 HochstadDecl. Ex. 1 (Expert Report of Adam B. Jaffe (“Jaffe
Rep.”)) 10-11. To comply with that law, a station that seeks to broadcast programsimmgntai
copyrighted music must first obtain a license from the copyright holder to lyuididormit.
Def. 56.1 11 3—4PI. Rep. to Def. 56.1 {1 3—4; Jaffe Rep. 10.

As a practical matter, a television station cannot negotiate separately withdaedf
the rights to each copyrighted work within each of its programs. Among other reasanay¢he
far too many musical works contained within these programs to make it realisticettalied
individual negotiations; and as to some works, the copyright holder ma m¢rtified easily.

Instead, for many years, for most music that they have broadcast, locaisstatve
obtained performance licenses fr®fROs. Def. 56.1 § 18PI. Rep. to Def. 56.1  18Am.
Compl. 1 10. The PROs affiliate with numerous composers and music publishessiahd
these rightsholders in various waythese includseaving as a clearinghouse for theensing of

public performance rights, monitoring performance of members’ works, assuaingserpay



for such performanceand distibuting royaltiesto the rightsholder$.On their members’
behalf, the PROsell—to TV stations and others that wish to perform such wa&Hermance
licenses that cover, generally on an aggregateblanketbasis, the musical works of their
respectie affiliates. Def. 56.1 § 19; PIl. Re to Def. 56.1  19.

As noted, m the United States, there are three such PRGEAP, BMI, and SESAC
Def. 56.1 11 18-1%PI. Rep. to Def. 56.1 1 189. SESAC, a private for-profit corporation
owned by investors, is the smallest. Def. 56.1 {1 21IPRRegp. to Def. 56.1 1 21-23. The
three PROs have repertories of copyrighted music that are exclusive of dmeradatgether,
the PROSs’ repertories account for virtually every copyrighted musical catopds the United
States and its territories. Def. 5¢.20; Pl. Regp. to Def. 56.1 { 20.

2. Locally-Produced and Third-Party Produced TelevisionPrograms

Programming by local television stations falls broadly into two categories: troadly lo
produced and those produced by third parties. Def.165;Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § A
station’s need to obtain performance licenses from PROs is particulaidyia@onnection with
third-party programming. Locally-produced programs, including local news progreyyeme
produced by the station itself. Def. 5§.6; Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 1 6. As to such programs,
local stations carwith minor exceptiongjetermine for themselves what music they wish to
include. Def. 56.%] 7; Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § 7. A station cotitetrefore largely avoid
music in the repertory & particulaPROin its own locallyproduced programmingdbeit with

considerableeffort. Def. 56.11 8; PIl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 | 8.

* The Supreme Court has explained the origins of the PROs by noting that “those whgzkrfo
copyrighted music for profit were so numerous and widespread, and most perforsances
fleeting, that as a practical matiit was impossible for the many individual copyright holders to
negotiate with and license the users and to detect unauthorized BS8#s/. Columbia
Broadcasting Sys., Inc441 U.S. 1, 4-5 (1979)BMI v. CBS).
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With respect to thirgbarty programming, however, local television stations lattude
to control music contentThird-party programming includesyndicated seriesr showssuch as
“Seinfeld” “House,” or “Wheel of Fortune,” movies, most sporting eveatsnmercialsand
infomercials Def. 56.191 9, 10; PI. Resp. to Def. 561 9, 10;Jaffe Rep9, 12, all of which
may be critical to the station’s succeddhese programs are produced by outside persons or
entities, anadome to the local station complete“in the can} the stations do not control, nor
can they alter, the music embedded ther8af. 56.11 10, 11 Pl. Rep. to Def. 56.1 7 10,
11.°

A station that broadcasts a copyright-protected performance of a musical itreltw
permission faces the threat of statutory penalties for copyright infrindehsrcan be as high
as $150,000 per infringement. 17 U.S.C. § 504(c). For a number of practical reasons, to assure
that it has the legal right to broadcast all the music contained in itgoitgl programsnd
commercial announcementslocal statiomenerally must acquire licenses from all three PROs.
Def. 56.11 18; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.1 { 18.

For one, the sheer volumermlsic broadcast bystation across its thirdarty program
makes it likely that this music will draw upon the repertories of ASCAP, BMI, aisREE For
another stations are contractually prohibited from altering, removing, or subsgtaliernatives

for, the music embedded in thip&rty programmingDef. 56.1 1 11; PI. 56.1 Resp. 1 Iaffe

> A television station also cannot dehine the music contained in thipérty produced
commercials aired during such programs (“incidental music”) or in the bagkgjof
broadcasted live events (“ambient music®eePl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 { 7.

® There are limited exceptions to thisciuding in circumstances where a local station’s network
affiliate has obtained a “through to the viewer” license from the PRO that rumes benefit of a

local affiliate. SeeDef. 56.1 1 17; PI. 56.1 Resp. to Def. 56.1 { 17. These circumstances are not
relevant here.



Rep. 12, 53. A station cannot strip oot excisemusic contained within theepertoryof a PRO
with whom it wishes not to contraclt also may be difficul or evenimpossible, for a station to
identify, at the time it buys the rights to air a program, all music embedded in thatrpydef
alonethe PROo whoserepertoryeach musical work belongs. Def. 56111-12; PI. Resp. to
Def. 56.1 11 1112. Finally, the alternative sales channel for music performance rights that
conceivably might have developed—in which the right to perform embedded music would be
secured by the producer and sold to the station along with theptiglprogram—has notso
developed.Mostrights the station needs lawfully air the programincluding rights relating to
the script, visual images, acting, and directeme, typicallyconveyed along with the program
itself. Def. 56.1 1 14; PResp to Def. 56.1 {1 14, 18ut, as a matter of what plaintiffs call
“longstanding industry practice,” performance rights to embedded rareggenerally not
conveyed along with the program. Am. Confp¥. The stations museparately secure such
rights Def. 56.1 11 14, 16; PIl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 { 16.

For years, therefore, local stations overwhelmingly have obtained, fronfP&4ghmusic
performance licenses that cover BieO’sentire repertory.Def. 56.1 § 18; Pl. Resp. to Def.
56.1 1 18.In negotiations with the PROs i gling performance rightie stations have been
represented by a neprofit associationthe Television Music License Committee (“TMLC”).
Def. 56.1 1 26; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § 20VILC, in turn,has cefounded Music Reports, Inc.
(“MRI"), which provdes music rights administration services, includinggregram license
reporting services, to television stations in the United St&e§.56.1 § 28; Pl. Resp. to Def.

56.1 9 28.

’ There are situations in which third-party producers or syndicators dipectlide source
licenses that convey the public performance rights to the embedded i@askl. Resp. to Def.
56.1 11 14, 16. This circumstance is not relevant to the instant motion.
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3. Types of License®vailable —and ASCAP’s and BMI's License Terms

There are several types of music performance licenses that,asuskras a television
station,may obtain: blanket licenses, gaoegram licenses, direlitenses, andourcelicenses.

a. Blanket licenses Blanket licenses authorizestation to perfornall compositions in
a given PRO'’s repertory, and to do so an unlimited number of times; for this righgttbe s
pays a fixedee. Def. 56.1 1 282; PIl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 11-22; Jaffe Rep. 17-18.
Historically, local stations have acquired blanket licenses from all thres RRRSsure that they
obtairedthe public performance rights necessary for all of their programming. Def. 86;1
Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 | 3laffe Repl17-18. Because each blanket license covers all music in
that PRO’s repertoryhts practice allows the stations to air programming without any risk of
music copyright infringement. Def. 56.1 § 33; Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1  33.

b. Per-program licenses Like a blanket license, a pprogram licens¢'PPL") allows
astationto perform any composition in a PRO’s repertory. Unlike a blanket license, hpweve
PPL’sfeeis variable; itdepends on how many programs broadcashégtation contain music
in a given PRO’s repertory for which the station has not independsitined a direct license.
SeeDef. 56.1 1 3739; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.1 | 38; Jaffe Rep. 27-28taflonmust pay the
PRO only for any progrartiatit broadcasts that contains ormenwore instances of that PRO’s
music, and then only if the station does not already have the required fioetisd musidrom
another source, in the form afdirect or source licengdiscussed below)Otherwise, the
station need not pay the PRGeeDef. 56.1 q 38-39; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.1 {1 38+34affe
Rep. 27-28. In other words, tR€L provides stations that independently obtain liceases

discount off the blanket license, and tlamsincentiveo seek out licenses by other means



ASCAP and BMI offelPPLs SeeDef. 56.1 § 37; Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § Ihey are
required to do so pursuant to consent decrees those entities entered into, decadds@gJd, wit
following antitrust litigation. See e.g.,United States v. ASCARo0. 41-1395, 1950 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 4341, at *10—*11 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 14, 195(ASCAP Consent Decree Amended Final
Judgmenbr “ASCAP AFJ”); United States v. BMNo. 64 Civ. 3787, 1966 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
10449, at *7—*8 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 29, 1966BMI Consent Decree’)see als@BMI v. DMX, Inc,
683 F.3d 32, 36 (2d Cir. 2012) (tracing history of consent decidad®);Rep. 2830. ASCAP is
also required to use a specific formula to determin@tiefee. SeeUnited States v. ASCAP
1993 WL 60687, at *52—*7.&eealsoJaffe Rep. 28 n.31. It is undisputed, and expert
economists for both sides have opined, &8CAP andBMI's PPLsareeconomically viable
andoffer a “genuine alternative to the blanket license for many stations.” Jaffe ReeeP8,;

Br. 2.

c. Direct licenses A direct license is a license for performance rights sold directly by
the copyright holder (“the rightsholder”) to a television station. Def. 56.1 § 69; $f). ReDef.
56.1 1 69. Under their consent decrees, ASCAP and BMI argeddaipermit stations to
obtain direct licenses from rightsholdefSeeUnited States \BMI (In re AEI Music Network,
Inc.), 275F.3d 168, 176 (2d Cir. 2000)AEI") (discussing ASCAP’s and BMI’s obligations
under their respective consent decrees)

d. Source licenses A source license is a license for performance rights to the music in
a particular television program that a television station obtains from the pregnaducey as
opposed to from a PRO. Def. 56.1 § 57; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § 57; Jaffe Rep. App. C at 2.
Various plaintiff stations have executed direct and source licenses in the [p&$t.1 M 196,

Def. Resp. to PI. 56.1  196.
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e. The rate court The consent decrees with ASCAP and BMI each also create a rate
court, situatean this District Under specific circumstances, where ASCAP or BMI cannot
reach agreement with a music user, the user may ask the rate court to set atfledsehfor a
license. See, e.gBMI, 683 F.3d at 37ASCAPv. Showtime/The Movie Chanpieic., 912 F.2d
563 (2d Cir. 1990§“ASCAP v. Showtime(affirming fee set by rate court for blanket license,
following dispute between ASCAP and operator of cable television netwbrks).

4. SESACand its Negotiations through 200/vith Local Television Stations

Founded in 19325ESACTfor yearsfocused omarrowsectors of the music performance
market €.g, religious and European concert and stage music). Def. 56:4%;#1. 56.1
1 125;seeAffiliated Music Enters., Inc. v. SESAC, 60 F. Supp. 865, 867, 870 (S.D.N.Y.
1958)(“AME v. SESAQ. In 1992, after a change of ownership, SESAC expanded its repertory.
It did soin part by recruing from ASCAP and BMhigh-profile composers and publishers,
including ones whose music was embedded in syndicated television programs. Pl. 56.1 1 125
Def. Response to PI. 56.1 I 125ESAC currently licenseasore than 20,000 composer and
publisher rightsholders. PI. 56.1 § 124; Def. Resp. to PIl. 56.1 P&246.1 | 41; Pl. Resp. to

Def. 56.1  41.SESACpays royalties to thesHfiliates, generally on the basis of when, how,

8 In recent years, following a decision of the Second Circuit involving Bb#,AE| 275 F.3d at
176-77, the rate courts have required ASCAP and BMI to offer, in addition to an economically
viable PPL, a license known as an “adjustable fee blanket license,” or AFBL.FBh &llows
the licensee to reduce its blanket license fee to reflect direct licenses it hastuigerform
works within the PRO’s repertory5ee BMI v. DMX683 F.3d at 40, 423, 46—47 (discussing
AFBLs requested from ASCAP and BMsge also WPIX, Inc. v. BMNo. 09 Civ. 10366

(LLS), 2011 WL 1630996 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 28, 201 United States v. ASCABO9 F. Supp. 2d
566, 581 (S.D.N.Y. 2004). Most recently, ASCAP and BMI have been parties to rate court
actions regarding the acquisition of performance rights to the works in theioregeby
Pandora, an internet radio service provideéee BMI v. Pandora Media, IndNo. 13 Civ. 4037
(LLS) (S.D.N.Y.);In Re Petition of Pandora Media IndNo. 12 Civ. 8035 (DLC) (S.D.N.Y.).

11



and how frequently their works are performed, although certain affligceive “advances” or
guaranteed royaltiedDef. 56.11143-45; PIl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 (1-45.

SESAC hasiever beersubject to a consent decree. No rate court is in place to resolve
disputes between SESAC and potential licens@¢s56.1 {1 161162; Def. Resp. to PI. 56.1
1 161.

Prior to 1995SESAChadnegotiated directly with local television stations regarding its
licenses. Def. 56.1 T 89; Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § 89. In 1995, the TMLC approached SESAC to
negotiate an industrydde license.Def. 56.1 § 90; PIl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § 9hereatfter,

SESAC negotiated a fivgear blanket licese withthe TMLC that spanned October 1, 1995
(retroactively) through December 31, 2000. Def. 56.1 1 91; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.TH&1

parties were able to negotiate another induside blanket license, through settlement of
arbitration, for the 2001-2004 period. Def. 56.1 § 92; Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § 92. That
agreement also provided that, should the parties prove unable to agree on terms for ardubseque
license period, SESAC could elect to arbitrate. Def. 56.1 § 93; Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1  93. In
that case, the stations would have the right to obt&Rlafrom SESAC, under terms set by the
arbitrators. Id.

The negotiations between SESAC and the TMLC for a license covering the 2005-2007
period were unsuccessful; SESAC thereafter exercised its dptpoceed to arbitratiorDef.

56.1 1 94; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.1 1 %h independent panel of arbitrators set an induside
blanket license fee of $16 million for the year 2005, $17.6 million in 2006, and $19.3 million in
2007. Def. 56.1 1 95; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § Bbey also set the terms of the first SESAC
PPL, which covered the peridesktweenrApril 1, 2005 and December 31, 2007. Def. 56.1 1 40;

Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 1 40; PI. 5@1170-71.For the sameeriod, the arbitrators, in 2006, set
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some rate term®r SESAC’sPPL, and SESAC and TMLC agreed on others. Def. 56.1  96; PI.
Resp. to Def. 56.1  96; PIl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 | 40.

In July 2007, SESAC and the TMLC began to negotiate an indwdie/license for the
period beginning January 1, 2008. Def. 56.1 1 97; PIl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 1 97. After four months
of negotiations, the negotiations broke down, wittemugreementDef. 56.1 § 98; PI. Resp. to
Def. 56.1 1 98. SESAC thereafter began dealing with the stations on an individuaDedisis.
56.1 1 99; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.1 1 99.

5. The 2008-2012 Period and the Present

On November 27, 2007, SESAC sent offers for new licenses fpetial betwee2008
and 2012 to individual stations and station groups, including the plaintiff stdtibes$. 56.1
1 99; Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 1 99; PI. 56.1  180. SES#i&ss increaseds blanket licensing
rates by 10% over the prior license period, despite what plaiatisert was an overall decline in
demand for SESAC’s music on local television during the prior license period. Pl. 56.1 1 176,
181-82.

For the periobetweer2008 and 2012Z5ESACalsomodifiedthe PPLformula Several
modifications, plaintiffs claimsubstantially increased the co$that licenseso as to diminish
(if not eliminatealtogether)ts utility. Theseincluded the addition of an “Incidental Ambient
Use Fee,” and increases inaaministrative feand in a “default muiplier” applied to certain
programs. Pl. 56.11255-58, 270. These changes are discussed in more deteal Part
IV.D.1.

Since SESAC modified thePLin these waysno station has operated on a PPL, and

SESAC has not been paid any PPL feesR&p. to Def. 56.1 | 30affe Rep. 7479;

® For 2013, in light of this pending lawsuit, SESAC maintained the status quo: It offerked loca
stations the same license rates as those demanded for th@DD®eriod. Pl. 56.1 T 194.
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Transcript of 10/7/13 Oral Argument (“Tr.”) 27 (Dkt. 138). By contrast, in 2005, 180 stations
had utilized SESAC’'®PLon a retroactive basis, saving a total of approximately $575,000 out
of the total blanket licese feeof some$16 million; in 2006, 185 stations took tReL, saving
slightly under $1 million, out of a total blanket license fee of $17.6 million; and in 2007, 248
stations took th®PL, saving approximately $2 million out of the overall blanket lieclieg of
$19.3 million. PI56.1 § 250. A disputed issue in this case is whether SESAC'’s Blrtent
provides an economically viable alternative to the blanket lice@senpareDef. Reply Br. 20—
22 with Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § 3PI. 56.1 11 249-270; PI. Br. 22-24, 42—-43. Plaintdigim
that the pricing and restrictive terms associated 8B8AC’s PPLfrom 2008 forwardrender it
commercially infeasiblé,as reflected in the lack of use of this liceng®. Br. 22;see infraPart
IV.D.1.

During the period 2008 forward, as beforacle SESAC affiliate haseen subject ta
standard affiliation aglement. Def. 56.1  49; Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 {14#& agreement
makes SESAC the “sole and exclusive [PRO] to represent the affibate,®.g.Hochstadt
Decl. Ex. 115put itdoes not restridirect licensindoy the affiliate andis silent as to the terms
of the licenses SESAC will offeDef. 56.1 11 49, 70-71; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.1 |1 49, 70-71.
For betweer99.5% and 99.7% of SESAC's affiless, the standard affiliation agreement is the
only agreement with SESAC. Def. 56.1 § 72; Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § 72.

Each ofthe remaining 0.3% to 0.5% of affiliatbas entered into suplemental
affiliation agreement witls ESAC These add ternte those in the standard agreemeiihe
supplementahagreementgive the affiliatean advance aanotherwise guaranteed amount of
money,sometimes well ove$l million a year.See, e.gKohlmann Decl. Exs. 98, 135;

Hochstadt Decl. Exs. 13133. However, thegxpose the affiliate ttargemonetary penalties
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for issuing a direct licensd-or one composer, the penalty is $500,000 for the first direct license
to be issued, with penalties for issy additionaldirect licenses escalating to $1 million ahd
termination of alkoyalty paymentsseeKohlmann Decl. Ex. 135; otheiffiliates arerequired
promptly to forfeit to SESAC the entire sales price obtained for the direcs$jcze, e.g., id.
Exs.81, 97, 98; Hochstadt Decl. Exs. 1384 The effecof these terms, plaintiffargue is to
eliminate any imaginable incentive for the affiliate to issue such a lic8imeeagreements also
require that the affiliate refer any request for a direct license to SEGA@|low the affiliateto
issue a direct licengmly if SESAC does nakach an agreement with the affiliaéed then only
“at a rate no less than SESAC's current licensing rat®8eeéDef. 56.1 | 73—74, 79; PI. 56.1
19 19, 226227, 243; see alsonfra Part IV.C.2

The music of tk affiliates subject to these supplemental agreementhasacteristically,
in highdemandoy televisionstations, including because it is embedded in poputgrams;
between 2007 and 201the musioof six suchaffiliates together accountddr betwee3% and
50% of SESAC's royalty distributions. Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § 73; Def. Reply 56.1 1 73; PI.
56.1 11 131138, 219. Suchagreements arie placewith, among others, for 2005 through 2016,
the composer of music embeddedhe programs “Seinfeld,” “Will & Grace, “Less than
Perfect,” and Reba,” P. 56.1 1 134, 226; for 2007 through 2013, the composer of music
embedded in the programs “Grey’s Anatomy,” “Boston Legal,” “Ally McBealhe Good
Wife,” and “The Bachelor,Pl. 56.1 § 245; for 2007 thrgh 2011, the composer of music
embedded in the programs “Ugly Betty,” “In Plain Sight,” “Monk,” “GCB,” and “Med|” PI.
56.1 1 132; and for 2007 through 209 composers of music embedded in the programs
“Entertainment Tonight,” “Dr. Phil,” “Rachel Ray,” and “The Insidd?l. 56.1 {1 133136;see

e.g, Hochstadt Decl. Ex4.31-134; Kohlmann Decl. Exs. 81, 97, 98, 1184-37. Clauses in
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the supplemental agreements riegjthe affiliates to keegheirterms confidential. Bf. 56.1

56; Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 Y 58s to source licenses) 2009, MRI, acting on behalf the

TMLC andlocal stations, attempted secure source licenses for local stations. Def. 56.1 § 59;

Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 1 59; PI. 56.1 1 197, 200. MRI's efforts to obtain source licgnses

music in SESAC's repertory were unsuccessful. Def. 56.1 11 59, 64, 66; PIl. Resp. to Def. 56.1 11
59, 64, 66; PI. 56.1 1 202.

During negotiations for the 2008—2012 license period, SESAC issued interim licenses to
some local stations or station groups, Def. 3.102, 105, 107, 110; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.1
1 102, includingplaintiff stationsassociated with th®leredith, Scripps, and Hoak organizations,
Def. 56.111104-110. To stations that had not yet signed licenses, SESAC sermmedssist
letters, threatening, upon the expiration of the interim licenses, to suetttesesgor copyright
infringement if the stations continued to broadcast programs cmgaitusic from SESAC’s
repertory. PI. 56.1 1 189; Hochstadt Decl. Ex. EbgalsoHochstadt DeclExs. 50, 104.
According to representatives of many stations, they eventually felt compelled toaiapitu
SESAC’s demands and to take the blanket egetestheyfacecopyright infringement actions.

PIl. Br. 21; PI. 56.%1189-93.

Some stations and station groups were able to obtain discounts on the blanket license:
Groups operating three or more stations were offered a discount based on the magritide of t
stations groups’ SESAC fees, Def. 56.1 1 112; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.1 | 112; stations that had
recently reduced their broadcasts of programs with SESAC music were offpregramming
discount,” Def. 56.1 § 113; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § #48 stations that had recently dropped
SESACs music from their local news were offered a “news music adjustni2et,”56.1 114,

Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.1  11#laintiffs however,characterizéhese discounts as “de mininiis
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leaving the licenses “vastinflated over reasonable rates.” Pl. 56.1 § 186. Plaintiffs also note
that the discounts did nodduceincreases to their base license rateddiar years, and thats
condition of taking the discounts, SESAC requsationsto forego the opportunity to use the
PPLoption during the fiverearlicense term.ld.

6. DOJ’s Investigation of SESAC

During 2008, while negotiations over the 2008-2012 license period were taking place,
several TMLC representatives, including one associated with plaintiffdilerand plaintiffs’
expert ProfessoAdamJaffe, met with the Antitrust Division of the DOJ. Def. 56.1 {{ 117-18
Pl. Resp. to Def. 56.911117-18. The TMLC representativeencouraged the DOJ to sue SESAC
for antitrust violations, and drafted ansplaint for the DOJ to file against SESAO®ef. 56.1
1 120; PI. Resp. to Def. 56.1 § 120. The DOJ closed its investigation without taking &&tfon.
56.119121-22; Pl. Resp. to Def. 561§121-22; Kohlmann Decl. Ex. 16 (Deposition of
Willard Hoyt) at 280-81.

B. Allegations ofthe Amended Complaint

On November 4, 2009, plaintiffs fileghinitial Complaint Dkt. 1, and on March 18,
2010, an Amended Complaint, Dkt. 25 (“Am. Compl®).

In essencehe Amended Complaint allegdsat in pradice, local television stations
cannot avoid songs in the SESAC repsrtoAnd, t allegeshat since 2008SESAChas taken
steps tanakeits “all or nothing” blanket licenséhe only viable option foa station to obtaithe
performance rights tthe muwsic of SESAC’saffiliates seeAm. Compl. 1 24-28, arftas
charged asupraeompetitive pricdor tha license oneunrelated testations actual usage of

compositions in SESAC's repertoiiy, 1 34.

19Both the Complaint and the Amended Complaint contained a jury demand.
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The Amended Complaint identifies various technighes SESAC has allegedlged to
closeoff to stationsalternative or less expensive sources of performance righese include,

(1) removng the incentivdor a gationto acquire alirect licenséy offeringnofee credit
againsthe cost of its blaket licensdor musicthe licensee has separately acquired from the
copyright ownerid. 1 24 (2) makingits PPLeconomically norviable byrevisingthe formula

by which the costor that license is calculated so that it invariably exceeds the cost lnbtiiest
license,d. 11 25-27; and (3) promisingits key affiliates—composersvhose musids so
ubiquitous that station effectively cannot aveidarge upfront payments, and in return
requiringthese affiliates to enter into supplemental agreentbatsffectively bar therfrom
offering direct licensesd. 1 30. The AmendedComplaintalleges that SESAChas threatened to
withhold access tany part ofits repertoryid. § 29, and refused to disclose the full contents of
its repertory, to impede stans from making independelntensing arrangementsl. I 32.

The Amended Complaint contrasts SESAC’s practices with those of ASCAP and BMI.
Among other things, it notedyése PROsJnder their consent degrees,stissueaperformance
licenseto a sation promptly upon request and at a “reasonable” rate subject to judicial review,
andcredit licensees for direct licenseyacquire. Id. It alleges, too, thaBESAChas
“strategically raided” ASCAP and BMI to recrliey composers whoseusical workis
essentially impossible for stations to avoid. § 30.

C. Procedural History

On May 17, 2010, defendants moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint. Dkt. 26—-27.
In aMemorandum & Order dated March 9, 2011, the Hon. Naomi Reice Buchwald, to whom
this ase was then assigned, deniedrttw¢ion to dismissholding that plaintiffs had plausibly

alleged violations of 88 1 and 2 of the Sherman AgeDkt. 33 (“MTD Op.”).
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On March 23, 2011, defendants answered the Amended Complaint, Dkt. 35; on April 13,
2011, theyamended their answebdkt. 38. The case then proceeded to discovery.

On September 28, 2011, the case was reassigned to this Seebtkt. 45, 47. On June
14, 2013, following the close of fact discovery and in keeping with the schedulatstipto by
the parties and endorsed by this CosegDkt. 114, defendants moved for summary judgment.
Dkt. 130. On August 2, 2013, plaintiffs submittopposition tdahatmotion. Dkt. 132. On
August 30, 2013, defendants submitted a reply in support of the nibtibkt. 135.

On October 7, 2013, the Court heard argument omtiteon for summary judgment, and
reserved decisionSeeDkt. 138.
I. Overview of the Motion for Summary Judgmentand the Court’s Holdings

In moving for summary judgmerBESAC challenges the adequacyh#evidence as to
multiple elements of liability oplaintiffs’ 8 1 and § Zlaims

As to§ 1, SESAC disputes that there is prootoficerted actioamong its affiliatesand
in any event otoncerted actiooonstituting an unreasonable restraint of traslESACalso
argues thaa PRO’soffer of a blanket license to the music of its affiliates or members jsanat
matter of lawsubject tgper secondemnation under 8 1. As to rule of reason reVE&S5AC
argueghat plaintiffs have not establishéte requisitdharm to competitionfor two reasons:
First, SESAC argueghe relevant market is not, as plaintiffs claim, the market for all works in
SESAC's repertory Rather, it arguesmusical works are not interchangeable with one another
each musical work must be taken as its own market, and SESAC’s waldioet harm
competition inthese narrowly drawmarkets. Second SESACarguesthe proeompetitive

benefitsof its blanket licenseroduct, like those of ASCAP and BMI, outweigh any anti-

X The original reply brief submitted by SESAC inadvertently exceedepate limits agreed to
by the partiesseeDkt. 116. SESAC submitted a corrected reply brief.
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competitive aspectsis to§ 2, SESAC disputes both that it possessed monopoly power in a
relevant market anthat it willfully acquired or maintained that power through exclusionary or
otherwise impropemeans.

The Court has carefully reviewed the evidence in the summary judgment record and the
parties’ argumentas tothat evidence. For the reasons that follow, the Court holds, twes
claims,thatthe record evidence is sufficient to support a verdict in plaintiffs’ favor, alth@sg
to the 81 claim,the Court rejects as a matter of lplaintiffs’ theoriesof liability per seand of a
conspiracy so broad as to embrace all SESAC affiliates

Specifically, he Court, applying the rule of reasontie § 1 claim,holds thathe
relevant markeis fairly definedas thafor performance licenses of theusicin SESAC'’s
repertory as plaintiffs proposeThis market definitiorhas a solid basis in the evidenceneT
evidencewould alsocomfortably sustain a finding that SESAC, once freed in 2008 from tlge dut
to arbitrate its disputes with the statipeegaged in an overall anti-competitive course of
conduct designed to eliminate meaningful competition to its blanket lic&S8AC ssteps
toward that end are persuasively chronicled in the report of plaintiffsiterefessoAdam
Jaffe, & developed below. Whether this course of conduct resulted from concerted action, as
required by 8 lpresents a more difficult questidmowever There is aubstantial argument that
anyrestraint otrade wasmposed solelypy SESAC itself.Based onts review, e Court holds
thatthe evidenceloes not suppoplaintiffs’ claim of abroad conspiracto restrain tradamong
all of SESAC’s morghan 20,000 composer and musicadtfiliates, but that the evidence does
permit, although does not compel, a finding of a much narrewar conspiracgmong SESAC
and the subset of affiliates wleaecutedsupplemental affiliation agreement$hat is because

thoseagreementsffectively diminateddirectlicensingas a means by which stations could
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licensethese affiliate'smusic. A finder of fact could reasonably conclude thaste affiliates
entered into these agreementth SESAC with the intention ohsulatingSESAC’sblanket
licenseproductfrom competition. The Court also denies defendants’ motion for summary
judgment as to plaintiffs’ monopolization and conspiré@yaonopolize claims, brought under §
2.

The analysis below proceeds as follows. The Court first reviews the histamjitofist
litigation involving thePROS licensing practices. These precedents supply a critical framework
for evaluating the arguments herBhe Court then considers the glaim, assessing whether
(1) the conduct plaintiffs assail is amenabl@é&r secondemnation(2) there is adequate
evidence of concerted action among SESAC's affiliates to restrain &nad3) the evidence
would support a conclusion that the azdmpetitive effects of SESAC’s conduct outweighed its
pro-competitive tendencigese., whether a jury could find harm to competition. The Court then
considerdghe § 2 claims, addressing firste monopolization claim and thehe claim of a
conspiracy to monopolize.

The Court'sreview of SESAC’s miion has been governed by familiar standards. As
movant, SESAC must “show[] that there is no genuine dispute as to any mateidaldflcat it]
is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. Ra)5&GESACbears the burden of
demonstrating the absence of a questiomatierialfact. Inmaking this determination, theoGrt
must view all facts “in the light most\arable” to plaintiffs, as the nomoving parties Celotex
Corp. v. Catrett477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986&ee also Holcomb v. lona Col621 F.3d 130, 132
(2d Cir. 2008).To survive asummary judgment motion, plaintiffs must establish a genuine issue
of fact by “citing to particular parts of materials in the record.” Fed. R.EB6(c)(1)(A) see

also Wright v. Goord554 F.3d 255, 266 (2d Cir. 200Plaintiffs “may not rely on mere
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speculation or conjecture as to the true nature of the facts to overcome a motion farysumm
judgment.” Hicks v. Baines593 F.3d 159, 166 (2d Cir. 2010) (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted).“Only disputes over facts that might affect the outcome of the suit under the
governing law will preclude a grant of summary judgmewnitrtiderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.
477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)n determining whether there are genuine issues of material fact, the
Court is “required to resolve all ambiguities and draw all permissible factual icfesen favor
of the party against whom summary judgment is sougldibhnson v. Killian680 F.3d 234, 236
(2d Cir. 2012) (quotingerry v. Ashcroft336 F.3d 128, 137 (2d Cir. 2003)).
[I. Prior Antitrust Litigation Involving PROs

Theconduct of thd®ROs in generabnd ASCAP’s and BMI's usef ablanket licenses
in particular hasbeen muchitigated including in the Supreme Court and the Second Circuit.
Theseprecedentseta framework for, anthform the Court’s assessment tifeclaims and
defenses hereThe Court, accordingly, begins by reviewing these prior decisions.

A. Early ASCAP Litigation

In 1941, theDOJfiled a complaint against ASCARt alleged that ASCAR blanket
license was an illegal restraint of trade un@érof the Sherman Actliminating competition
among ASCAP’snemberaffiliates andallowing them to fixprices for their mus. See
Complaint,United States v. ASCARIv. No. 13-95 (S.D.N.Y. 1941). Shortly after the
Complaint was filedthe casavas settled by a consent decree. Although liabiNég not
conceded, the decree imposedensive restrictions on ASCAR hesaequiredASCAPto
() offer aPPL, in addition to the blanket license; (Bense broadcasters upon request; and
(3) allow membership to any composerabieast one workSeeUnited States v. ASCAP940—

1943 Trade Cases 1 56,104 (S.D.N.Y. 1941).
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The next yearthe operators of 200 movie theatsuedASCAP. SeeAldenRochelle
Inc.v. ASCARS8O0 F. Supp. 888 (S.D.N.Y. 1948After trial, the districtcourt held that
ASCAP’s activties in licensing movie theatewriolated88 1 and 2 ofhe Shermar\ct. The
agreementat issuebetween ASCAP and its membéarred thenembers from assigning
performing rights to movie producers at the same time they assigned mgaagtis; required
producers to reserve f&@SCAP alonethe right b license perfornmg rights;and provided that
the movie distributors and exhibitors would allow a film to be shown for profitiarthyeaters
with an ASCAP licenseld. at 894. The courtstated thaalthougheach ASCAP member “is
granted by the copyright laws a monopoly in the copyright work, it is unlawful for thersvof
a number of copyrighted works to combine their copyrigtany agreement or arrangement,
id. at 893; in effect, ASCAP could not use its members’ individual copyright monopolies “to
create anothemonopoly” id. at 894 (internal quotation marks agithtion omitted). The court
held that ASCAP had violated18by agreeing with theghtsholders to restrain trade, so as to
preventcompetition among membe@ndhad violated 2 by monopolizingthe market for
music used in movie productiomd. at 893-94. Although th&ldenRochellecourt found that
plaintiffs had noproven monetargamagesid. at 896—-98, it awarded injunctive relied, at
898-900 & n.2.

That same year, a Minnesota didtdourtreached a similar result, to wit, that ASCAP’s
licensingpractices with regarth movie theatersiolated88 1 and 2, although the case arose in a
different posture. See M. Witmark & Sons v. Jens8@ F. Supp. 843 (D. Minn. 1948The
plaintiffs wereASCAP memberavho sought damages from certain movie theater owners for
allegedly infringing their copyrights by showing films without first obtainingA&CAP license;

they sought an injunction restraining future violations of their copyrights. cbuat denied
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relief onthe equitable ground thahe ASCARmMemberplaintiffs themselves wereolating the
antitrust laws.Id. at 850. Granting relief, the court statetlyould tend to serve the plaintiffs in
their plan and scheme with other members [§@AP] to extend their copyrights in a
monopolist control beyond their proper scop&d”

In 1950, in response to those two decisions and to other complaints, thaSOAP
consent decree was amended and exparedJnited States v. ASCARp. Civ.A. 42-245,
1950 WL 42273,1950-1951 Trade Cases 62,595 (S.D.N.Y. July 17, T8 Oamended
consent decree requiréddbCAPto offer an economically viable alternative to the blanket license
and allow its members to license their wodk®ctly—ASCAP coutl not demand thahembers
license their works exclusively through The amended consent deca¢soextendedts
protections to television broadcasters and provided that, if ASCAP and a putativedicenkl
not reach an agreemettte licensee could apply to a “rate court” to set a reasonableitbe
ASCAP beang the burden of proof as tbe reasonablenes§its rate

B. Early BMI Litigation

BMI evolved along a largely parallel path. In 1966, the DOJ filed a complaimtsagai
BMI. It allegedthat BMI constituted a combination bath restraintradeand to monopolize,
and wagherebyable to artificially depress rates and coerce composers to joinHakmhing
competition. In 1966, BMI and the DOJ settthd casevith the entry of a consent cee. See
United States v. BMIL966 Trade Cases { 71,941 (S.D.N.Y. 1966prohibits BMI from
prohibiting composers fromntering intadirect licenses, requires BMI to gréPLs, and
requires BMI to admit any writer with at least one published work. Since 1994h&dHlso

been subject tan amended consent decree #redjurisdiction ofa rate court, to which users or
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BMI may apply to determine a reasonable f8ee United States v. BMNo. 64 Civ. 3787, 1994
WL 901652, 1996-1 Trade Cases 1 78,83.D.N.Y.Nov. 18, 1994).

C. Early SESACLitigation

Before this action, SESAC'’s licensing practitesl only once been considered in a
private antitrust suit. IAffiliated Music Enterprises, Inc. v. SESAREL., acourtin this district
described SESAC'’s practices as “the classic pooling of rights andglo&nevenue struck
down as violative of 8 1 of the Sherman ActdldenRochelle, Inc., v. AS.C.A.P., D,80 F.
Supp. 888, antvitmark & Sons v. Jensen, D,80 F. Supp. 843.” 160 F. Supp. 865, 875
(S.D.N.Y. 1958). The court held that SESAC’s agreements restrained competitveeréte
copyright owners, allowing them to “agree on a fixed price and share in the commitsi praf
making SESAC “too effective in resisting competition from unaffiliated copyright oauidd.
Such “pooling agreements” were, in that court’s view, “per se violations of theuanlaws.”
Id. However, because plaintiff in that case was a competitor to SESAC (in facgffiliate
of BMI, which had funded the litigation) and had not proastitrust injury as a competitor
under § 4 of the Clayton Antitrust Act, theurt dismissethecomplaint. Id. at 876-77.The
Second Circuit affirmed théismissal. See268 F.2d 13¢ert. denied361 U.S. 831 (1959).

D. BMI v. CBS(1979) andCBS Remand1980)

In 1975, @Wlumbia Broadcasting System BS’) brought suit against ASCAP, BMI, and
their members and affiliates, for violations8§ 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act. After an eight-
week bench trial, Judge Lasker upheld the blanket license against this chaltehge that
CBS had not demonstrated that it was compelled to take a blanket license, or thsibie fea

alternatives existedSee CBS v. ASCABOO F. Supp. 737, 780-81 (S.D.N.Y. 1975) (Lasker, J.).

25


https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=15USCAS1&originatingDoc=I2085d39354b711d9a99c85a9e6023ffa&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=%28sc.History*oc.Keycite%29�

On appeal, the Second Circuit reversed, holding that the blanket liwaageer sgillegal price
fixing. See562 F.2d 130 (2d Cir. 1977).

The Supreme Court granted certioraee439 U.S. 817 (1978andreversedholding
thattheblanket licensing system was not price fixiqgel seunlawful under the antitrust laws.”
BMIv. CBS$S441 U.S. 1, 4,7 (1979). The Court explaitfemtwhether an agreemeat practice
is so inhereny anti-competitive as to be condemneduagawful per se or whether it instead
must be evaluated under the rule of reason, “must focus on . . . whether the praelige faci
appears to be one that would always or almost always tend to restrict competitidecrease
output, and in what portion of the market, or instead one designed to ‘increase economic
efficiency and render markets more, rather than less, competitide & 19-20 (quotingUnited
States v. U.S. Gypsum C438 U.S. 422, 441 n.16 (1978)). Courts shaldgdsify a business
practice aper seunlawful only after “considerable experience” with that practiceat9
(internal quotation marks and citation omittesBe also idat 19 n.33.

Applying that principle, the Court noted thatlicial experience with blanket licerssi
particulardid not favor finding sucblanket licenseper seunlawful. Id. at 9. The Court
reviewedthe history of antitrust litigation against PROs, and other faatwtuding the Justice
Department’s viewhatsuchblanket licenses are npér seunlawfulandmay sometimes be
reasonable restraints of tra@eg, where constrainebdy consent decrees, as with ASCAP and
BMI). Id. at 13-15. The Court identifiedredeemindenefits thamaybe achieved by blanket
licensesto perform the musiof multiple artists Such an aggregalieense the Court noted,
responded to “the practical situation in the marketplace,” in which there aredtiasusf users,
thousands of copyright owners, and millions of compositions,” and wlatest users want

unplanned, rapid, and indemnified access to any and all of the repertory of compositions, and t
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owners want a reliable method of collecting for the sales of their copyiight at 20. A
PRO’sblanket licensatood to promote “the integration of sales, monitoring, and enforcement
aganst unauthorized copyright useld. The Courfurtherstatedthat“a bulk license of some
type is a necessary consequence of the integration necessary to achieve thesaesffialeth
that the PRGet a price for this blanket license did not make it unlapdulse because “a
necessary consequence of an aggregate license is that its price must baegttalaisat 21.
Further, “[tlhe individual composers and authors have neither agreed not to sediually in
any other market nor use the blanket license to mask price fixing in such otketaridd. at
23-24. Accordingly, the Court held, the ASCAP and Bildinket licensg were not unlawful
per se but were to be subjected “to a more discriminating examination under the rulsaf.tea
|d. at24-25™°

Onremand, the Second Circaiffirmed Judge Lasker’s rulingindingthe blanket
licenselawful under a rule-ofeason analysisSeeCBS v. ASCAF620 F. 2d 930, 934 (2d Cir.
1980)(“CBS Remariyl.”* Onthat question, the Second Circuit held, “the opportunity to acquire
a pool of rights does not restrain trade if an alternative opportunity to acquineluadirights is

fully available.” Id. at 936. The court sustatJudge Lasker’s findinthatfeasible alternative

12 |n support of the same outcome, the Court stated that the blanket license couldeldeagiéts
own product, rather than the pooling of separate products: “[T]o the extent the blaeris I
a different product, ASCAP is not really a joint sales agency offering thedodivjoods of
many sellers, but is a separate seller offering its blanket license, of waictdiidual
compositions are raw materialltl. at 22. The Court also suggested that ASCAP could be
viewed as a “[jJoint venture[],” which is “not usihaunlawful, at least not as [a] prideing
scheme[], where the agreement on price is necessary to market the produictchtatl23.

13 In a threshold inquiry, the Second Circuit considered whether the blanket licensktshoul
considered a resird at all. The Second Circuit declined to interpret statements in the Supreme
Court’s opinionas implying a view on this, holding instead that the Court had solely decided that
the blanket license was nopar seviolation of Section 1 and left for remand “the question of
whether the license has any atoimpetitive effect at all.”ld. at 935.
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options to the blanket license existed CBS including obtaining?PLsand direct licensesld.
at 933. The Second Circuneldthat the blanket licenstherefore did not unreasonabhgstrain
tradeanddid not violate § 1.d. at 939.

E. Buffalo Broadcasting v. ASCAR1982)

Soon thereafter, the Second Circuit congdé&lanket license again this time, in the
context of a sit brought by a classf local television station§eeBuffalo Broad Co., Inc.v.
ASCAR 744 F. 2d 917 (2d Cir. 1984)Buffalo Broadcasting. Thedistrict court, after a bench
trial, hadheld that the blanket licensereasonably restraingthde It enjoined ASCAP and
BMI from, inter alia, granting blanket licenses to such statioBaffalo Broad. Co., Incv.
ASCAR 546 F. Supp. 274 (S.D.N.Y. 1982). The Second Circuit reversed. It identified as the
critical questiorwhether a “real” alternative existeéd the blanket licenseBuffalo
Broadcasting, 744 F.2dat925-26 Closely analyzing the factual record, ®econd Circuit
rejectedthe districtcourts finding that there was no such alternative, concluthiag for the
stationsPPLs sourcdicensesand directicenses were viable alternas to the blanket license.
Id. at 926-932. The blankktense, thereforalid not violate 8§ 1.1d. at 933.

F. National Cable Television Ass’n, Ina.. BMI (1991)

Most recently, in 1991, federal district court in the District of Columbia examined the
blanket license, in the context of a challebgeepresentatives of cable program services and
cable television system operatofdat’| Cable Television Ass’'n, Inc. v. BMI72 F. Supp. 614
(D.D.C. 1991). Like the Second Circuit@BS RemandndBuffdo Broadcastingthe court

focused on whether there were realistic alternatives to the blanket liddnae626—28. It held

* The Second Circuit stated that the Supreme Court’s decisN8AR v. Board of Regents of
the University of Oklahoma&68 U.S. 85 (1984), confirmed that that question was deciSiee.
Buffalo Broadcasting744 F.2d at 925.

28



that “plaintiffs, especially the cable programmers, do have a choice whenes torabtaining
music performing rights for theyndcated programming they transthiid. at 628, including
saurce licensing, peprogram licensing, and direct licensjmd, at 628—36.

In so holding, the court rejectethptiffs’ claimsthatsuchalternativesvere*illusory
because, as a practicabtter, the existence of the blanket license and the industry practices that
have grown up around it[] serve as insurmountable obstacles to obtaining perfoghmisig r
licenses through other avenue$d. at 636. That program syndicators did not offerfgrming
rightsto stationsvas na a permanent conditioni#the stations demaed such rights, the
syndication market would provide them to avoid the risk of losing saldsdt 637. Tat the
music insyndicated programmingame to stationgre-selected (“in the can”) did not deprive the
stationsmarket power to control the price demanded for licenkksat 638. Rather,"publishers
work in a highly competitive market,” and wouldintboth to avoid the ilvill generated by
coercive negotiating tacti@nd “to obtain as much exposure for the compositions in their
catalogs as possibleld. And the cable statiortsad economic power in the marketplace,
including the poweto exert “considerdb leverage in any negotiatidnaith BMI. Id. at 640.
Finally, the court statecven hadt treated the blanket license as a restraint, the restvaurt
have survived an inquiry under the rule of reaslonat 641-42.

V. Plaintiffs’ Section 1 Claim

A. Section 1 Elements and Principles

Section 1 of the Sherman Act outlaws “[e]very contract, combination . . . , or conspiracy
in restraint of trade or commerce among the several States.” 15 U.S.@A gidlation of § 1
requiregoint or concerted actian“Independent action is not proscribedvfonsanto Co. v.

SprayRiteServ Corp, 465 U.S. 752, 761 (1984e¢e alscAm.Needle Inc. v. Nat'l Football
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League 560 U.S. 183, 189-90 (201@ppperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Catp7 U.S.
752, 767—-68 (1984 Btarr v. Sony BMG Music Entm592 F.3d 314, 321 (2d Cir. 2010). An
antitrust plaintiff must therefore show: (1) “a combination or some form ofectagtaction
between at least two legally distinct economic entities” and (2) “that thenagméeonstitute[s]
an unreasonable restraint cdde either per se or under the rule of reas@apital Imaging
Assocs., P.C. v. Mohawk Valleled Assocs., In¢.996 F.2d 537, 542 (2d Cir. 1993).

As to the agreement prong, “[t]o survive a motion for summary judgment. plaintiff
seeking damagefor a violation of 8 1 must present evidence that tends to exclude the possibility
that the alleged copsators acted independentlyMatsushita Electric Insus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith
Radio Corp, 475 U.S. 574, 588 (1986Gnternal quotation marks and citation omittetifhe
antitrust plaintiff should present direct or circumstantial evidence theamably tends to prove
that the manufacturer and others had a conscious commitment to a common sclgmad tes
achieve a unlawful objective.”Monsantq 465 U.S. at 764 (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted)see also AmTobacco Co. v. United Staj&¥28 U.S. 781, 810 (1946) (“Where
the circumstances are such as to warrant a jury in finding that the conspiratorsitsicbf
purpose or a common design and understanding, or a meeting of minds in an unlawful
arrangement, the conclusion that a conspiracy is established is ju3tified.

“Although parallel business behavias admissible circumstantial evidence frarhich
the fact finder may infer agreemeént,does not itself constitute a violation of the Sherman Act,
because it is ‘consistent with conspiracy, but just as much in line with a wide aivational
and competitive business strategy unilaterally gotwth by common perceptions of the market.”
Starr, 592 F.3d at 321 (quotirBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 553-54 (2007)).

Therefore, tourts have held that a plaintiff must show the existence of additional circuesta
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often referred to aplus’ factors, which, when viewed in conjunction with the parallel acts, can
serve to allow a fadinder to infer a conspirgc’ Apex Oil Co. v. DiMaurp822 F.2d 246, 253—
54 (2d Cir. 1987). These plus factors include: “a common motive to conspire, evidence that the
parallel acts were against the apparent economitrgettest of the individual alleged
conspirators; or evidence of a high level of interfirm communicatiolmsré Publication Paper
Antitrust Litig, 690 F.3d 51, 62 (2d Cir. 2012).

The agreement must also have been to an “unreasonable restraieggin Creative
Leather Prods., Inc. v. PSKS51 U.S. 877, 885 (200&¢ee alsdBus. ElectsCorp. v. Sharp
Elecs Corp, 485 U.S. 717, 723 (1988)Since the earliest decisions of this Court interpreting
[8 1], we have recognized that it was intended to prohibit only unreasonable resfraiade.”).
A restraint may be shown unreasonable in one of two waiyst, a limited mmber of categories
of agreementthat “would always or almost always tend to restrict competition and decrease
output”have been deemed illegar se eliminating“the need to study the reasonableness of an
individual restraint in light of the reatarket forces at work Leegin 551 U.S. at 88@nternal
guotation marks and citation omittedpuch agreements ares6 plainly anticompetitive that no
elaborate study of the industry is needed to establish their illegalifgxaco Inc. v. Dagher
547 U.S. 1, 5 (2006) (quotingat’l Soc’y of Prof'| Engineers v. United State$35 U.S. 679, 692
(1978)). Among these are horizontal agreements among competitors to fix pdces a
agreemer#tto divide particular market Leegin 551 U.S. at 886.

Application of heper serule, however, is “appropriate only after courts have had
considerable experience with the type of restraint at issukonly if courts can predict with
confidence that it would be invalidated in all or almost all instances under the rutesaon.fe

Id. at 886—87ifternal citations omitted)Accordingly, courts aré&eluctan[t] to adopper
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serules with regard to restraints imposed in the context of business relationshipsiveher
economidmpact of certain practices is not immediately obvioustate Oil Co v. Kharb22
U.S. 3, 10 (1997) (internal quotation marks artdtion omitted).

For mostantitrust claims, courtisistead aply the “rule ofreason,” according to which
the finder of fact must decide whether the questioned practice imposes an utreasstiaint
on competition, taking into account a variety of factors, including specific infamabout the
relevant business, its condition before and after the restraint was imposed, iastr #iet's
history, nature, and effect.Id.; see Copperweld Corpd67 U.Sat 768 (rule of reason requires
“an inquiry into the market power and market structure designed to ass}sittal effect” of
the restraint on trade)The rule of reasoseekgo “distinguish[] between restraints with
anticompetitive effect that are harmful to the consumer and restraints stimulatingtitiomp
that are inthe consumes best interest.’Leegin 551 U.S. at 886. Undér, “the plaintiffs bear
an initial burden to demonstrate the defendants’ challenged behavior detialadverse effect
on competition as a whole in the relevant mark&eéneva Pharms. Tech. Corp. v. Barr Labs.,
Inc., 386 F.3d 485, 506—07 (2d Cir. 200#térnal quotation mé&s andcitation omitteg
(emphasis in original). Where plaintiffs sustain that burden, “the burden sfifts tiefendants
to offer evidence of the prcompetitive effects of their agreemer{ssumingdefendants can
provide such proof, the burden shiftgck to the plaintiffs to prove that any legitimate
competitive benefits offered by defendants could have been achieved through fliesiseest
means. Ultimately, the fact finder must engage in a careful weighing of thettvepeffects
of the agreementboth pro and con-+te determine if the effects of the challenged restraint tend

to promote or destroy competitionltl. at 507 {nternal citations omitted).
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B. Plaintiffs’ Claim of Liability Per Se

Plaintiffs claim here thaSESAC and its affiliates hawagreed with one another to
unreasonably restrain trade through “agreements to fix, peg,stabéize, effect, and tamper
with market prices for licensdsr copyrighted musical compositiomsthe SESACRepertory’
in particular,SESAC’sblanket licens. Am. Compl. 11 78—7%®laintiffs claim that thiondude
is per seanti-competitive truncating the 8 1 inquirySESACcounterghat the case laywnotably
the Supreme Court’s decisionBMI v. CBS441 U.S. 1 (1979)nakesper seliability
inapplicable taconcerted actiononsisting othe offer by a PRO of a blanket license aggregating
its membersperformance rightsFor the reasons that follow, on this poBESAC isplainly
correct: IfSESACiIs to be found liable on the Bclaim, such liability must derive from
application of theule of reason.

Plaintiffs identify two sets of agreemerttsat, they claimareunlawful per se

The first involvesSESACSs offerof blanket licensesPlaintiffs argue thaa jury could
find that SESACwith its affiliates’ agreement and conse€igsues competitiofioreclosing
blanket liceases,"Pl. Br. 27 and thathese licenses haetiminated competition over the
licensingof performing rightgo the works in SESAC'’s repertorflaintiffs cast thigsa
horizontal agreement to fix price of the sort condenperdse

BMI v.CBSsquarely precludesis theory. The&SupremeCourtthereclearlyheld that
thePROs’practiceof issuing blanket licenses aggating licensing rights for themembers or
affiliates isnot aper seviolation. See441 U.S. at 24 Plaintiffs attempto distinguishBMI v.
CBSon the grounds that the blanketensesat issudn that casevere offered by PROs whose
conduct waslready constiined by conserttecrees.Seed. (noting that, in assessing the

legality of those PROs’ conduct, “the substantstraints”’imposed by the consent decree on
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ASCAP, BM|, and their affiliated rightsholders “must not be ignored} a result plaintiffs
state, ASCAP anBMI were unable tonake theeblanket licenses the exclusive meags
which performance rights their members’ work were licensed, whereas SESACdwaso, and
has done so herdlaintiffs urgethatthe “court precedents addressing ASCAP’s condaftire
it was reined in by its consent decfesuch aAldenRochelleandM. Witmark are more
relevant here PI. Br. 28-29.

Plaintiffs, howevermisreadBMI v.CBS The Supreme CouttherenotedthatASCAP
and BMI were each subject &axonsent decreeSee441 U.S. at 10-12, 24Butthe Court did
not suggest that, absent the restramisosed by these decreedjlanket license would bger se
illegal. To the contrary, the Coudescribedat length, the benefits provided by blanket licenses
thatpermit licenges to acquire at onegghts tomanydisparate works. Blanket licenses
developeds a practidssolution to a markethortcoming, the Court notettlesigned to increase
economic efficiency and render markets more, rather than less, covegetid. at 19-20
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted)nd the Court noted th@o-competitive
features of the blanket licenskl. at 20-21. Finally, the Coustated “the blanket license
cannot be wholly equated with a simple horizontal arrangement among comp&8aaP
does set the price for its blanket license, but that license is quite differen&hything any
individual owner could issuk.ld. at 23;see als id. at 21-22 (tating thatwith the blanket
license “the whole is truly greater than the sum of its parts; it, to some eiendifferent
product”). In that sense, the Court stateASCAP is not really a joint sales agency offering the
individual goods of many sellers, but is a separate seller offering its blagkete, of which the

individual compositions are raw materiald. at 22.
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The Supreme Court’s descriptionstioé benefits conferred bg blanket license equally
apply tothat offerecby SESAC And, contrary to plaintiffs’ thesisucha licensestill confers
benefits even where ramnsent decree is in place to check-antnpetitive abusesLike thoseat
issue inBMI v. CBS SESAC’sblanket licens@addressea market shortcoming; itoo,
“accompanies the integration of sales, monitoring, and enforcement against unadthor
copyright use,’id. at 20, lowering costs and decreasing administrative bur@&BSAC’s
blanket license ialsoa product “differentfom anything an individual owner could issuéd.
at 23. The prospect ofish benefits removes th@actice of offering a blanket license frqrar
secondemnation. The lower courts to consider the question have, therefore, folBMiing
CBS uniformly declined to hold that the blanket form licengeeisseinvalid under the antitrust
laws. SeeASCAP v. Showtim812 F.2d at 58Buffalo Broadcasting744 F.2d at 924CBS
Remand620 F.2d at 93%ee alsdJnited States v. ASCAP993 WL 60687, at *1{collecting
cases)

FurthermoreasSESACobserves, theery purpose ofleeming a practicenlawful per se
is that it must beinlawfulregardless otasespecific circumstancesDef. Br. 29. As the
SupremeCourt put the point iBMI v. CBS when it overturnethe Second Circuit’s finding of
per seillegality: “Although the Court of Appeals apparently thought the blanket license could be
saved in some or even many applications, it seems to us tiparteerule does not
accommodate itsetb sud flexibility . . ..” 441 U.S. at 17 Plaintiffs’ notion thaSESAC'’s
blanket license can be helger seillegal because SESAC'’s blanket licemseon the evidence
here perniciousn a way thathe other PROsiere not misapprehendse concepof aper se
rule. Raintiffs’ bid to applyper seanalysisbased on casgpecific factsto condemra practice

that, on other facts, has been upheldeagul, woulddefeat the purpose such a rule serves
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isolating at the thresholdyracticeghat arealwaysanticompetitive BecauséBMI v.CBS
establisheshat blanket licensing does not have “such predictable and pernicious anticompetitive
effect, and such limited potential for procompetitive benefi#to be condemnepler se State

Oil Co,, 522 U.S. at 1(Qlaintiffs’ 8 1 claim, to the extent based on a claimed agreearmahg
SESAC andill its affiliatesto offer ablanketlicense must be assessedder the morauanced

rule of reason

The second set of agreements on which plaintiffs fac8&SAC’s supplemental
agreements with its key affiliates. Plaintiffs note that these agreements ressecathliates’
ability to directly license performance rights to their wolkgimposing steep fines for doing so.
Plaintiffs argue that these agreementspareseanticompetitive because they assure that “those
affiliates will not compete with SESAC or cheat on the SESAC cartl. Br. 27.

SESAC'’s supplemental agreements with its affiligktesveverare not subject ttheper
sestandard Theparties makeompeting argumentghether these agreements are- @oanti-
competitive. But thelecisive point as tthe standard of review is that these agreements do not
fall within any recognized categgrof per seunlawful conduct. Thegre notpure horizontal
agreements among competitors to fix prices of the sort condegpenag butinsteadhave a
significant vertical dimensionPursuant to the supplemental agreementathieatesgive
SESACthe right tolicense their works, includini televisionstations but are penalizefbr
issuingdirect licenses to these sastations As such,ltesupplementahgreements can be
fairly classified asvertical price restraints . . . to be judged according to the rule of reason.”
Leegin 551 U.Sat882 see also State Qib22 U.S. at 22E&L Consulting, Ltd. v. Doman
Indus. Ltd, 472 F.3d 23, 29-30 (2d Cir. 2006) (exclusive distributorship arrangements are

governed byule of reason)
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To be sure, there can be said to mrazontal aspedb these agreementSESACand
its affiliatescan alsdairly beviewed agotential competitors in the licensing of the rights to the
same works As such, theupplemental agreements arf®rm of agreemenamongcompetitors
But the presence @venthis significanthorizontal dimensiomalongside a verticane, does not
triggerper sereview. This factoris insteadelevantto the application ofhe rule of reasanSee
Elecs. Commc’ns Corp. v. Toshiba Am. Consumer Prods, 12@.F.3d 240, 243 (2d Cir. 1997)
(rule of reason is applied “even if [a] distributor and manufacturer compdie distribution
level, where . . . the manufacturer distributes its products through a distributor and
independently”)see also Copy-Data Sys., Inc. v. Toshiba Am., &3 F.2d 405, 409 (2d Cir.
1981).

Put differently althoughthe relationship beteen SESAC and its affiliatesmota
“straightforward vertical one,” Pl. Br. 36pr is it astraightforward horizontal one. Inde@&MI
v. CBSitself recognied that the nature diiis unusual product does raimfortably translate
into conventional horizontal versus vertibaminology: “[T]he blanket license cannot be
wholly equated with a simple horizonagreement among competitors”; it‘cifferent from
anything any individual owner could issue.” 441 U.S. at Pl3e complex economic
relationship between SE&Aand its affiliates demandsata close factual analysige appliedo
the agreements at issume for which rule of reason review, but pet setreatmentis welk
suited

This holding does not diminish the force of plaintiffs’ claim that SESAC’s supplament
agreements atia fact highlyantrcompetitive in that theysquelchan obvious formof
competiton with theblanket licese Plaintiffs argue that thisnancial penaltyfor issuing a

direct licensechills—and is unsubtly intended thill—the affiliates from offeringthis
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alternative licenseThe Court addresses tliggumentandSESACs defense othe penalty
provision, belowsee infraParts IV.C.2 & IV.D.1'® But those arguments are properly addressed
under the rule of reason.h@&per serule is limited topracticeswvhich, based on extensive
experience, can be categoricatpndemneds anticompetitive. Plaintiffslo not point tany
judicial experience with arrangemelfite the sypplemental agreementgt alone extensive
experiencethat would justifyholdingsuch arrangements categoricallylawful.

The Court, therefore, grants SESAC’s motion for summary judgmethieoBherman Act
8 1 claim to the extent that plaintiffs pursue a theory of liabitigr se The Court turns to
SESAC'’s claim that the evidence cannot support liability under the rule of reason.

C. The Elementof Concerted Actionto Achieve anUnlawful Result

Section 1 of the Sherman Act prohibits oabncerted—not unilateral—conduct in
restraint of trade As to this element, SESAC makes two distinct arguments. Fiasgues
there is insufficientevidencerom which a trier of fact coulfind anyconcerted action, let alone
an agreement, betwe&ESACand its more than 20,0@8filiates Second, it argues, even if
some agreemeibuld be found, there is no evidenceanfagreemerdmong affiliates to
unlawfuly restrain tradeor, as the Supreme Court put the pointflionsanto “to achieve an
unlawful objective.” 465 U.S. at 764. The Court addresses these arguments in turn.

1. Evidence of Concerted Action

SESAC, in challenging plaintiff€laim of concerted actiorgrgues that the evidence
shows onlyawritten agreemenbetween each affilia@ndSESAG in which theaffiliate simply
authorized SESAC to licensts works in return foroyalty compensation SESACargueghat

there is noevidenceof anagreementexplicit or implicit,amongSESAC'saffiliates or that they

15 As noted, SESAC contends that the fines are necessary to protect and insure ré¢bgery o
large guaranteed payouts it made to recruit thesaffidigtes.
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otherwise acted in concert. In particulBESACarguedhat the evidence woulibt permit a
finding that its affiliates expected ito offera blanket licensaggregang rights to perform each
of their musi@al compositions along with the rights to perform the music of other SESAC
affiliates

This argument is novel in the line of modeases addressing challenge®ROissued
blanket licenses. Theourts inBMI v. CBS CBS Remand, Buffalo BroadcastimgdNational
Cable Television Ass'@achaddressed claims of unlawful concerted action, in violation of § 1
each found ndiability. But those cases were not decided on the basikok af evidence of
concerted a@mon. Eachdecision instead heldwful the collectiveactionof the PRO and its
licenseesbecause, the court heldternatives to th®RO’sblanket license were realistically
available. On the element of concerted actidm Supreme Court and the Second Circuit in
those casemokthe fact of the blanket licengself to bespeak concerted actioSee, e.gBMI
v.CBS 441 U.S. at 10 (recognizing that PROs’ blanket license arrangements matheg
“plainly involve conceted action”).

Here, howeverSESACargueshat the evidence would npermit ajury to find that its
affiliates agreed to pool their copyrighitsa blanket licenseSeeDef. Br. 27. SESAC relies on
the text of its affiliate agreementshich, SESACemphasizesdo notsayanything about
SESAC's issuingplanket licensesSee idat 24-25. Such is true. A review of SESAC'’s
agreementwith their affiliatesreflectsthat heywereexecutecver a period ofears and
generallyprovidedfor their automatic renewakubject to the affiliate’sight to give aimely
notice of termination See, e.gKHochstadt Decl. Ex. 106nusic writer'saffiliation agreement
effectivefor three years beginning January 1, 2002, with automatic yie@eextension

provision);id. Ex. 115 éffiliation agreementeffective forl2 years beginning January 1, 2005
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original agreemenhcorporated by reference hadtomatic thregear renewal period)The
agreements arglent as to how SESAC wilicensethe affiliate’swork for sale They do not
refer toa blanketicense, or, for that matteig anyothertypeof license Asto licensing the
agreements state ortlyatthe affiliate cedesall licensingauthority to SESAC during the
agreementerm. See, e.gid. Ex. 106, at § 2 (“Writer grants to SESAC, during the term of this
Agreement and throughout the world [a]ll of Writer’s rights to publity perform and to
license others to public perform, all or any part of Writer's Works, bynaegns or through any
medum now known or hereafter devised);Jid. Ex. 115, at § 2 (sameBFESAC gizeson this
silenceto argue the absence of an agreemerdrg affiliatesand to argu¢hat all that exists are
some 20,000 separate bilateral agreements between indiaftiiatles and SESAC SeeDef.

Br. 21 (“[T]he record contains no evidence of SESAC's affiliates agreeinggthemselves
about any of the practices of which plaintiffs complgin.”

Plaintiffs’ perplexingdecision to take virtually no discovery of SESAGf§liateshas
opened the door to thesnbitiousargument As SESACemphasizecth its summary judgment
papers plaintiffs, for reasons that are elusive, took only two depositbits affiliates Both
were ofaffiliates (Stephen Arnold and David Catalano) where party t(SESAC'’s
supplemental affiliation agreemerilaintiffs took not one deposition ah affiliate whowas
partyonly to thestandardaffiliate agreement-99.5 to 99.7% oéll SESAC affiliates As a
result,such &iliates werenever askedhow they expected SESAC, to whom they had delegated
licensingauthorityasto their musi¢concretelyto go about doing soThey were neveasked
whether they expected SESAC to offdslanket license tperform thecollectivework of
SESAC's affilates The recordon summary judgment is thus devoiddirect evidenceas tothe

state of mind andxpectation®f SESAC’sostensible caconspirators, botht the timesach
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entered intan affiliation agreement, antbr that mattergduring the yearghereafter when each
affiliate did notexercisdts contractual right téerminate

Notwithstanding SESAC'’s vigorous advocaunyd plaintiffs’curious lassitude on this
point, the Court holdthatthere is sufficient evidence in the record from whioh factfinder
could find concerted actice)mong SESAC's affiliatesThe factfindercouldreasonablyind that
SESAC’saffiliates understood and expected that SESAC would collectively offer tite t@m
their worksfor salein a blanketicense. The basi®f this conclusion consiskargelyof
circumstantial evidenceSuch evidence can suffice, of coursesstablish concerted actien
there need not bardct evidence ofhealleged conspirators’ sta®f mind. See In re Electronic
Books Antitrust Litig.859 F. Supp. 2d 671, 681 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) (noting that antitrust
“conspiraciesnearly always must be proven through inferences that may fairly be d@wwn fr
the behavior of the alleged conspirators,” and thus, “to prove an antitrust consghracy, °
anitrust plaintiff should present direct or circumstantial evidence that relslydeads to prove
that thedefendantand others had a conscious commitment to a common scheme designed to
achieve an unlawful objee™ (quotingAnderson New$80 F.3d at 184Monsantg 465 U.S.
at 764) (brackets omitted)). Thus, summary judgment oh el@mis inappropriate wheréhe
circumstances arguch as to warrant a jury in finding that the conspirators had a unity of purpose
or a common design and understandingmerican Tobaccd328 U.S. at 810.

Here,thekey circumstance are historical, involving SESAC’s longstandofter of the
blanket licens@roduct. Long before 2008, SESAC (like ASCAP and BMI) offered a blanket
license. Indeed, a the case law caassed aboveeflects, the blanket license was the signature
product ofeachPRO. See, e.gBMI v.CBS 441 U.S. at 5AME v. SESAC160 F. Supp. at 869.

That SESAC’sstandardaffiliation agreementeeferredto licensing onlygenerally,and did not

41



referto a blanke{or any other type ofjcensespecifically,would not alter the affiliate’s
expectation that SESAC would offer suchlanketlicense. Notably, in the years before 2008,
when SESAC undisputedly offered, and its affiliates enjoyed the benefits ofatheblicense,
SESAC'’s agreementgldressed its licensing practicegqually generitcerms See, e.g.
Hochstadt Decl. Ex. 106 (agreement dated 2062FEx. 115 (agreement dated 2005, attaching
original agreement dated 2001). Nothinghasummary judgmentcordsuggestst all hat
SESAC intended to stop offerimg signatureblanket license product, evercommunicated
suchanintention to any affiliate

Under these circumstances, SESa@tgument for summary judgment on the ground
thatthere is nalirectproof thatits standardffiliatesexpectedhe rights to their works to be
pooled and offered together in a blanket licedmse an air of unreality to itOn the summary
judgment record, a reasonable jury could find that thekiet license waSESACs raison
d’étre. Such a jury could find, based on SESAC’s history, thiaall timesthe affiliates who
entrusted SESA@® sellperformance rightto their work expected and intend8BSAC to
continue to pootheir rightswith those of other affiliates in a blanket license proditte record
evidence further suggests thaamy affiliatesjoined SESAC in the 1990s or early 2000s.
SESAC had longackagedheperforning rightsto their musidor sale togethewith the righs
to performthemusic of its other affiliatesBased on thisettledcourse odealing a juror could
reject, asmplausibleand ahistoricalSESAC’sclaim that itsaffiliates did not expect blanket
licensingto persist into 2008; and could find tleatchaffiliate understoodnd expecte@ESAC
to continue to offethis flagship product. Such a juror cowdtbo reasonablgonclude thathere

was no need fOBESAC to state thimtentionexplicitly in its agreements, any more than
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McDonald’s, to get the point across to customeegdedo stateexplicitly that it intendedo
continue in the future toffer theBig Mac.

A reasonable jurocould,therefore find thatan affiliate who, for the period of January
2008 forwarddelegatedts licensing righd to SESAQwhetherby signinga new agreement or
by failing to terminae an existingone), did s@xpecing SESAC to continue to bundle these
rightsfor sale along withthe rightsto other affiliates’ worksin a collective blanket license

Although not necessary to the Court’s ruling, the Court notes that the record contains
direct evidence, albeit limited, corroborating this expectation. BE$AC’s own website
touted the blanket license as the choice of its licenses. The wahs##: “On behalf of many
thousands of songwriters and music publishers, SESAC offers blanket licenseeagsabat
authorize the performance of all the compositions in the SESAC repertory.” Hiidbetd. EX.
219. There is no record evidence that any SESAC affiliate accessed and read this website
statement, but it is reasonable to infer that some did. SedtihateaStephemrnold, whose
deposition plaintiffs did takeestified that heat leastunderstood that SESAC intended to offer
a blanket licensdyecause it wam the affiliates’collectiveinterest. See id Ex. 34 (Deposition
of Stephen Arnold (“Arnold Dep.”))at179. There is no reason to view bigectation as
anomalous?®

The Court therefore rejects SESAC's argumentttiaevidence cannot support a finding

of concerted actioamongits affiliates. Ajuror could find that thee personaffiliated with

1% In addition, one provision of SESAC's standard affiliate agreement tends to ceisfah an
expectation. Section 5(a) states that in consideration for the affiliatgis @frrights to SESAC,
“SESAC shall make payments to Writer [the affiliate] in an amount equal to the svateate of
the monies allocated by SESAC for distribution to its writer affiliat€&e®, e.gohlmann
Decl. Ex. 106 at § 5(ajd. Ex. 115 at § 5(a). Implicit is that there has been some prior
aggregation by SES&C of licensing fees due to affiliates.
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SESACwith each expectingnd agreeinghat the rights to thevorksof all SESACaffiliates
would bejointly offered in a blanket license.
2. Evidence ofan Unlawful Objective

For there to be § llability, however, an agreement alone is not enoudte agreement
must be to an uawful objective See Capital Imaging Assoc896 F.2d at 545 (“The plaintif’
evidence must prove the actors had an intent to adhere to an agreement thagwed ties
achieve an unlawful objective])} see also Geneva Pharm. Tech. Corp. v. Barr Labs, 386
F.3d 485, 507 (2d Cir. 2004A bare agreemermong affiliates that their rights will be offered
for sale in a pooled or blanket license does not, without more, meet this standard. That is
because, aBMI v. CBSandBuffalo Broadcastindgpold, a blanket license is not inherently
unlawful. The issue is whether the context in which the blanket license is issuedrisamehi
alternativemeans of licensing the same muaierealisticallyavailable See, e.g., ASCAP v.
Showtime912 F.2d at 583;f. United States v. ASCAP993 WL 60687, at *17 (noting thBIOJ
consent decree with ASCAP does not prohibit its use of such a license, but instead impose
conditions on it).

Here, plaintiffs’ theorys that,by variousstratagems-including byre-pricing itsPPLto
build in prohibitive costs iad by imposing prohibitivéy high penalties on key affiliates who
directly license their woH-SESACIin 2008 closed ofthe otherpotential means of licensing its
affiliates’ performance rightgffectively forcing licensees to buy its blanket licenS&ESAC
argues, however, that even if this were so, the evidence does not show thatatssaliiiew or
expected that SESAC would take sactt-competitiveactiors.

As to the 20,000 affiliates who were party to stendard affiliation agreemel8ESAC

is correct Onthesummary judgment record, a reasonable jury could not find, other than by
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sheerspeculationthatthese affiliatesexpectedSESACto act illegally knew either generally or
specificallyof the stepshat SESAC purportedly took in 2008 impedealternative forms of
licensng, or agreed, even tacitly, to any such course.

Significanty, such affiliates &e, largely, individual musicians and composers. None
were deposedDepositions of even a small sampling of such affiliates might hial@ed direct
evidence as to how, concretely, they expected SESAC, to whom they had delegatéy suthor
license their musical works, to advance their interests. Did they expeACSHES2008 and
beyond, to offePPLs, and if so, on terms that wernalle for licensees? Did they expect
SESAC to restrict any affiliates’ offer of direct licenses, and, if so, vasatictions and which
affiliates? Did they expect SESAC to voluntarily abide by licensing termsamiitin those of
ASCAP or BMI? Odid they expect ito use its greater freedom to act to drive a harder bargain
with licensees? These matters wetelly undiscovered.There isno competent evidence as to
whatany of these musicians or compodarsw or assume8ESACs practiceshadearlier been
with regard to other forms of licenses, let alenedence ofvhat thee affiliatesexpected
SESAC’spractices to be 2008 and beyondParticularly given thathe standard affiliate
agreements were subject to automatic renewal provisions, there is no reamociudethat
such affiliatesfrom year to yeahad any dealing&ith SESACbeyond receiving thenoyalty
income, omaid any attention t8 ESAC'’s pratices or business model.

Plaintiffs’ theory would, furthermore, appear to require SESAC’s ordin&ilags to
have understood that SESAC, effective 2008, intended to cross tf@imiegality into
illegality. Therehas been no claithat SESAC’practices before 20085 tolicense termsvere
unlawful, let alone that any affiliate viewed themsash SESAC's license ternduring the

prior 13 yearshad, after allresulted from arm#engthprocessethat presumptivelyould not
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have led to Shermafct violations: first,negotiations with TMLC (199%2004) and later,
decisions by arbitrators to whose authority SESAC had acceded-ZIAH. As of 2008pf
course, SESAC hauiorelatitudeto close offalternatives to its blanket licensend plaintiffs

have amasseslbstantial evidence that SESA€ized that opportunity. But there is no evidence
that SESAC telegraphed to its ordinary affiliates that it intended to restragn Rkadntiffs have
come forward with no evidence from which a jury could infiet the affiliates who were party

to its standar@égreementinderstood that SESAGad more leewato set license terms

beginning in 2008, let alone concluded that SESAC intendexpioit thatfreedom

Section 1 liability thereforeannot be based dhe theory that al0,000-plusSESAC
affiliates in fact agreed to restrain trad@aintiffs’ claim to that effect rests @heer
speculation; to permit the claim of such a vast illegal agreement to go to trial would indulge
sloppy caspiracy theories and unfairly demean such affiliatesth@& extent SESAC’S 1
claimis basedthen,on a claim of a sweeping patnong aliits affiliatesto restrain tradethe
Court grants summary judgment to the defense.

As noted, however J@intiffs also advance marrowertheory of unlawful agreement—
and this onés viable. Plaintiffs allege an unlawful agreement among SESAC ape th
affiliates (0.3% to 0.5%) who entered into supplemental agreemehtsselagreements
(1) imposedprohibitive penalties on the affiliate for issuing a direct license, or reqinegd
proceeds of any sales of direct licenses be forfeited to SE@A&quired thaffiliate to refer
requests to renew existing direct licenses, or for new direct licenseSSAC in the first
instance; and (3) permittede affiliate to issugenewals, or new direct licenses, only if SESAC
did not reach agreement with the affiliate, and then, only at a price equal tor tvaidh

SESAC would offer such a licens8ee e.g.,Kohlmann Decl. Ex. 135 (agreememvering
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period 2008 through 201andproviding for reduction by $500,000 of affiliateisonetary
guarantee from SESAC for first issuance of a direct license, $750,000 for issuarssrohd
direct license, $1 rion for issuance of third direct license, and termination of royalty payments
for issuance of ensuing direct licenses); Hochstadt Becl131 (agreement dated September
25, 2007, covering three-year period beginning October 1, ®QQ5ix-year renewaright for
SESAQG and providing for schedule of penalt@s affiliateranging from $100,000 to $500,000
per direct license, with penalty amounts keyed to names of more than 25 potesdtal dir
licensees)see alsd&ohlmann Decl. Ex. 8fagreement covergperiod 2005 through 200Wjth
renewal right foISESAGC authorizingSESAC, in event affiliate issues direct license, to either
“[tlake payment of saidhoniesreceived by said Writer for the direct license” or “[rleduce the
amount of any payments due taiW@r [under the agreement] by SESAC’s tretandard

licensing rate for the direct licenseRphlmann DeclEx. 97 (agreement covering thrgear
period beginning July 1, 2005, with renewal right for SESAC, with same penalty prowsion f
directlicensing as in Exhibit 81}dochstadt DeclEx. 132 (agreement covering thrgear period
beginning April 1, 2005, giving SESAC thrgear renewal right, and containing same penalty
provision for direct licensing as in Exhibit 8 )pchstadt DeclEx. 133(agreement covering
threeyear period beginning July 1, 2005, giving SESAC three-year renewal right, andchrantai
same penalty provision for direct licensing as in Exhibit 81); Kohlmann Brcb8 (agreement
covering period 2008 through 2012, gardviding that “[ijn the event that Writer and/or
Publisher issue a Direct License,. Writer and/or Publisher shall, within five (5) business days
of receipt of the license fee, send payment to SESAC in an equivalent amblooti3tadtDecl.
Ex. 134 (agreement covering period of 2008 to 2012, and containing same penalty provision for

direct licensing as in Exhibit 98).
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A factfinder could reasonably find thay affiliatewho assented to such a provision did
soappreciatinghat it served tansulateSESAC’s blanket licensérom competition for the
benefit of allSESACaffiliates Plaintiffsin fact adduced evidence of suchuarderstanding on
the part of composer Stephen Arnold, a signatory to a suppleragrneaiment. Arnold testified
thathe understood that “everybody at SESAC wanted everybody to stay on a blanket, to my
knowledge. | didn’t have to convince anybody.” Arnold Degfd79. Further, in a@mailto
Stephen Swida SESAC official Arnold impliedly recognizedhat the penalty that he factat
direct licensing served tliminate competition with thilanket licensenjoyed by SESAC’s
affiliates “In my current agreement with SESAC, there is a $500,000 penalty if | execute
Direct License with a clierdgtation. | agreed to that condition and | respect it, knowing it is in
everyone’s best interest to keep my client stations on a Blanlaidac Hochstadt Decl. Ex.
194.

The other affiliate with such an agreement who was deposed, David Catalano, gave
similar testimony. Discissng a provision of his agreement with SESAC in which he committed
not to issue a direct license for any amount less than SESAC would chaigertbe,|Catalano
testified that he agreed with that ter®@eeKohlmann Decl. Ex. 6 (Deposition of David Caiiab
(“Catalano Dep.”), at 53 (So do | agree with those terms? Yes, | do. And | want to qualify that
by saying why would | as a business person accept less money for mysgeit)ice

The direct licensing restrictions in eagreements, along with this testimafithese
two affiliates togethersupplya sufficient basis on which jury couldinfer thatthe affiliateswho
enterednto theseagreements with SESA®ere well aware that these terms tended to choke off
a key avene of competition with the blanket license. The inference logically follows frem th

fact of the restraintself, and particularly from the prohibitiveaze of the direclicense penalty.
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An affiliate aware of that penaltpould easilyinfer thatSESAC' broader goal was tahibit
such competitionto allow itto charge elevated feéwx the blanketicense, ad to permit it to
market itselfto affiliates as paying higher royalties than ASCAP and B&HeHochstadDecl.
Ex. 198 (2007 email from Arnold to SESAC, statinghe‘{direct license] rates you want me to
guote make it literally impossible for any station to benefit from the per progsaime averall
fee [] exceeds the blanketyee alsdPl. 56.1 1 239, 247 (email from Arnold’s attorney to
Arnold reporting that SESAC had made direct licensing “nearly impossible bd®83$AC
reporting that Arnold would not issue such licenses “because of the penalty §laaseslso
PIl. 56.1 § 216.

To be surethe evdence does npby any means;ompelthe conclusiorthatthe
supplemental affiliateagreedwvith SESACto restrain tradeSomeaffiliates entered into
supplemental agreemerntearsbefore January 2008, whéns notclaimedthat SESAC’s
licensing termsvere anticompetitive. See, e.gKohlmann Decl. Exs. 81, 97. And there is no
evidence thaanyaffiliate knew ofanyotherstepthatSESAC took to, allegedlynsulate the
blanket license frommompetition Most notably, there is nevidence that any affiliatenew
SESACwasre-pricing thePPLto make itanonstarter Arnold and Catalanboth testifiedthat
they had no involvement in SESAC'’s business decisions, and denied particular knowledge o
how SESAC licenses its repertory. Def. 56.1 fs&@Arnold Dep.at 190; Catalandep.at
44-45, 15859, 17780. At trial, SESAC could plausibly argtleat, if trade was restrained, it
acted aloneBut these are jury arguments, not arguments for summary judgment. heddoee
part of a conspiracy, a conspirator need not kalbwimensions of the wrongful conduct taken
in its furtherance SeeU.S. Football League v. Nat'l Football Leagido. 84 Civ. 7484 (PKL)

1986 WL 10620, at *24 (S.D.N.Y. July 31, 1986) (instructing jargntitrust case that “[ap
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may become a member of a conspiracy without full knowledge of all the detaits of th
conspiracy. It is not necessary that a defendant be fully informed as todgtaiis of the
conspiracy or its scope in order to be amber’) (jury instruction);see alsdmpro Prods., Inc.
v. Herrick, 715 F2d 1267, 1279 (8th Cir. 1983)ert denied 465 U.S. 1026 (1984) (to prove
antitrust conspiracy, “knowledge on the part of each member of the exact scope ofdkierope
or the number of people involved is not requir@dternal quotation marks omitted))) re
Vitamins Antitrust Litig.320 F. Supp. 2d 1, 15 (D.D.C. 20@4Although Plaintiffs must show
that each Defendant had knowledge of an agreement as to the overall conspiracydimat ne
show . . . knowledge, on behalf of the Defendant, of every detail of the alleged con9pirac
Plairtiffs canplausibly argugand a jury could findhat anaffiliate who signed omo provisions
thatevisceratedlirect licensingcould be under no illusiorthat SESACwas seekingo do
anythingother than stamp ogbmpetition with its blanket license.

In a separate argume®&ESACnotesthat each supplemental agreement contains a
confidentiality provision, forbidding disclosure thfe agreement’s termsSee, e.gKohlmann
Decl. Exs. 81, 97, 98, 107, 135; Hochstadt Decl. Exs-134. It argues thathis provision
means thasuchaffiliates are necessarily unaware tlodheraffiliates have similar agreements
discouraging direct licesing This, SESAC arguesyould prevent a juror from inferringn
agreement amorguchaffiliatesto suppress that form abmpetition with the blanket license
SeeDef. Br. 23.

But a juror could also reasonably draw the opposite conclusion. A juror couldheew
penalty fordirect licensingascommunicatingo the affiliate signatoryloud and clear, that
SESACwas taking decisive actiao stamp out this form afompetition with the direct license.

The affiliate woulchave nareasorto conclude that the provisions squashing direct licenses
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particularto himselfor herself And ajuror couldreasonably takthe confidentialitytermto
reflectsomething else entirely: tlsensitivity of SESAC’s arrangements with these elite
affiliates Conficentiality servegerhaps to prevent othaffiliates from learning of thiarge
guaranteed upfront royalty fees that SESAC agreed to pay. Perhaps, too, colifjdespiathe
huge penalties fadirect licensing—penaltieghatmight be viewed as “red flags” of anti
competitiveintent—from catchinghe eye of an antitrust regulatoA jury could fairly take that
view, too.

There is, in sum, sufficient evidence on which a fact finder could infer, among the
affiliates subject tohe supplemental affiliation agreemeat,conscious commitment to a
common scheme designed to achieve an unlawful objécMasanto 465 U.S. at 764
(internal quotation marks and citation omittei) wit, to suppress competition with SESAC'’s
blanketlicense. As noted, théactfinder couldread the evidencetherwise, and concludkat
any impetus to restrain competitioame fromSESAC alone, or did not exiat all But,
viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to plaintiffs, as the Court mtisisonotion
for summary judgmenthere isa genuine dispute d&ct as to whether SESAC and tiféliates
subject to the supplemental agreenagreedo unreasonablgestrain trade. Plaintiffs have
adduced sufficient evidence of sua agreement for the®1 claim to go to a jury.

D. The Element ofan Unlawful Restraint

SESAC also moves for summary judgment on the second elemeftliabgity:
unlawful restraint. Unde€BS RemandndBuffalo Broadcastingthe Court considers first
whether the challenged practisa “restraint; if so, the Court inqueswhether the restraing
reasonablg.e., whether the challenged behavior had datualadverse effect on competition as

a whole in the relevant marketGeneva Pharms. Tech. CorB86 F.3d at 506507 (internal
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guotation marks and citation omitte@mphasis in original)As toboth these points, the
evidence adduced by plaintigasilyclears the summary judgment bar.
1. Evidenceof a Restraint

First, plaintiffs have adducedbundant evidence on which a jury could find that no
economically feasible alternatite SESAC’sblanket license existedThe report of plaintiffs’
expert economisProfessoidam Jaffe suppliesin fact,a highlypersuasive analysis afy,
since 2008, neithBESAC’s PPLsnorits direct licenseshave beemconomically viabldor
prospective licensse

On the pemprogram sideJaffeclosely analyzethefeaturesof the PPLofferedby
SESACfor the 2008-2012 licese term He explains thaBESACmade three changés the
formulausedto calculate the PPduring the preceding 2005-2007 period, and that these
changesnade the 2008-201PPLcommercially infeasible.

First, SESAC began to charge geogramlicenses twice for performing“incidental”
and “ambient” musicmeaning musicapturedn commercials or unintentionally during
broadcast of public eventsSeelaffe Repl10, 74. One such charge appeared in the “blanket
license base” used to determine the taepfograms containing SESAC music; another came
with the addition of, effectivelya new15% charge for incidental and ambient mudct.at 75.
That charge is not imposed in connection with ASCAP or BMP4, nor had it been imposed
in connection wittthe arbitratioAimposed 2005-2007 SESARPLY’ Jaffe opines: “There is no

economic justification for this change and no economic purpose other than to make the per-

" Technically, Jaffe explains, SESAC in 2008 achieved the extra 15% charge ima&figa

previous 15% deduction (representing incidental and ambient music) that had beeresubtract
from the blanket license “baseyhich in turn is used as a multiplier to tabulate the PPL’s cost.
The ASCAP, BMI, and 2005-2007 SESAC PPLs were priced based on a formula that contained
that deduction.ld. at 74-75; Hochstadt Decl. Ex. 152.
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program license less attractive to licensgtse only rational inference, he statissthat SESAC
intended to increase the cost of BfeL, “to make it less viable as a competitive alternative.”
Id.; see also idat 73-83 & App. D (illustrating operation oPPLformula).

Second, effective 2008, SESAC modified tieenplexmechanism it used in calculating
the cost of #PL, to account for the possibility thatusic ina programnot affirmatively
identified as part of the SESAC repertory might nevertheless. bEr&formula, to simplify,
applies d'weighting factot to progamsthat may contain such unidentified music. Under the
PPLformula set by the SESAC arbitratipanel, that weighting factor had begdb prior to
2008. See id. Since 2008, howeveSESAChasapplied a 50% weightg factor 10 times
higher than before. Althoughdt is the same factor used in ASCAPRLformula, SESACs
repertory issignificantly smaller §dbout ongenth the sizeof ASCAP’s See idat 75-76. As
Jaffeexplains, the probability that a program with unidentified music contairsscfrom
SESACs repertory is muckmaller than the probability that it contains ASCAgpertorymusic.
Moreover, in ASCAP’s case, because ASCAP’s music is more ubiquieaggams will already
have one or more identifiable ASCAP compositions, meaningtbatder will already be
obliged to pay the per-program fee; thus, as to such programs, the licensee pagsentthio
ASCAPto reflect the possibility that unidentified musicthe programs from the ASCP
repertory. However, SESAG smaller repertory makes it less likely tiRLfees will already
be due to SESAC, and therefore the frequency with which the 50% weighting facts ichon
play is greaterld. at 77. Jaffe credibly opines that this change cannot be justified ecatigmic
on the ground articulated by SESAGhat SESAC has merely matched ASCa\wReighing

factor,or that thancreased rate incentivizesations to identify unidentified musidd. at 79-80.
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Jaffe illustrates the effect of these changes with respecsittgle actual station in a
particular month, whose 133 programs included 10 with identifiable SESAC music, 18 without
such music, and 105 (accounting for 29% of the station’s program reweithh@)t identifiable
SESAC music but with some unidentified music. Under the formula in place in 2005-2007, the
cost of thePPLto the station would have been $5,452, a savings of 17% off of the blanket
license. However, under SESAC’s 2008 formula,RRéfee would have been $11,714, a 78%
increase over theostof ablanket licenseld. at 80-81.°

Finally, Jaffe noteSSESACchanged the language of R®Lto omit a provision
regardingheprograms to be treated as containing unidentified music, vgoitEntially
augmenteESAC’s revenues pursuant to the 50%-paymatetformula discussed above.

Under thePPLtermsset by arbitratorsyhere a station had in its own possession a “cue sheet”
identifying the music contents of a program, the progra®snot treated asontaining
unidentifiedSESAC music However, under thpresent version of SESACRPL, SESAC will
treat a program as containing unidentified SESAC music, uBES#C itself possessasvalid
cue sheet; in effect, SESAC’s new terms preclude the use of cue sheets frosowttes. Jaffe
notes that several prospective licensees protested this term, but SES#AC réispond.Id. at
82-83. Although this license feature does not appear as consequential as the, fiatfew
plausibly construes SESAC’s position as further bespeaking a ladedst in offering a viable

PPL Id. at 82.

18 Jaffe’s report recounts various communications by stations to SE$&Qhafse changes were
imposed to the effect that the PPL, as newly priced, was not viable. One stat&n‘{\Wadur
50% attributable multiplier for programming with unknown music is illogical and atyesraus
that makeshe Per Program unusabldd. at 81 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).
Another wrote that, “by increasing your multiplier from 5 to 58% ten times increase-] you
rendered the per program option as worthle$s.(internal quotation marks and citations
omitted).
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In light of these terms, Jaffe opines that SESARP4 has, since 2008, ceased to supply
a viable alternative to its blanket license. Statistical data coatdsoJaffe’s determinatiorin
2007, 248 stations, representing approximately 24% of total blanket license fees, 88€1sSE
PPL Howeverjn the yearsiace SESAC’s post-200/PL formula took effect, not a single
local station chose thePL Id. at 82 (citations omittedkseealsoPI. 56.1 1 193, 250, 268-69;
Tr. 27 (“THE COURT: Is it right that there is literally no affiliate who has elettiedPPL?

MS. KOHLMANN: There is no affiliate who has elected the PPL.”).

Consistent with thisniwritten communications to SESAE and in deposition
testimony? stationsrepeatedhattributed thelecisionto forego &PPLto its prohibitive cost.
SeePl. 56.1 1 261 (collecting examples of stations’ written complaints t&AGERat its changes
made thé®PLunusable).

As Jaffe reasonably explains, withoutiable PPL option, the options afirect and
source licensing optiores to a particular musical wonkake littleeconomic sensir a station,

because such a station would still need to sexhlanket license toover its licensing needs

19 One station wrote that “the per program license would cost us more than the blanket kce

it has no value to us.” Jaffe Rep. 81 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Another
wrote that “[w]e would predr to use a Per Program License Agreement, but the terms imposed
by SESAC are both onerous and operationally cumbersome for a small markatign."std.

at 82 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Another wrote that fariy&aas

operated under a per program arrangement with ASCAP, BMI, and SESAC. udately, the
new terms and conditions offered by SESAC are so complex that they renagatitirisall but
useless.”ld. (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). A fourthtesrtSESAC imposed
much of this unreasonable fee increase by eliminating what had been a reasiabéblyer
program license option, and replacing it with a sham per program scheme, under which it
virtually impossible to achieve any benefitd. (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

20 Elizabeth Haley of AllbrittorCommunications Companyhich owns and operates several
broadcast stations, for example, testified that “[a]t the end of th[e] negosidtoth Albritton
[sic] and SESAC agreedlbritton [sic] stations could not save money under the per program
license.” Hochstadt Decl. Ex. 9 (Deposition of Elizabeth Haley) at 172—-73.
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And, as affiliate Stegn Arnoldtestified,"if a station is on a blanket, then there is no reason for
a direct license. You just would be paying the composer twice, or the composer woudatyn the
be paid twice.” Arnold Dep. at 91.

As reviewed earlierthe record contains substantial evidence of a separate -rtens
penaltiedor direct licensing in the supplemental affili@greements-by whicha jury could
find that SESACeffectively forced locastationsto buy its blanket licenselaffepersuasively
explains thathis penalty deterrethe composers whose work was most in demand from
independently licensing their musi€eelaffe Rep. 67—73This left stations that wished to air
any such music with no choice but to buy the blanket liceGsePI. 56.1 {{ 221-22.

SESACmakes two arguments in response to this formidable showingt, it argues
that,as a matter of law, the prospect of a statibi@ging to pay twicéor the same music (once
through a blanket license, another through a direct or source lickresmot make source or
direct licensing unavailable. Def. Br.-3%. ButCBS Remandn which SESAC reliefor this
point, is inapposite, and does @esist SESACIn CBS Remandhe Second Circuit rejected
CBSs argumenthat, as a result of the PROSs’ licensing practidesct licensing was
functionallyunavailable because “any money spent to acquire performance rights from
individual copyright owners would be wasted once CBS had already paid ASCAP andrBMI f
performance rights to all music820 F.2d at 937. In rejecting that argument, the Court noted,
that, in thatcase,'nothing prevented CBS from attempting to obtain from the copyright owners
performance rights for some interval following expiration of the term of thkétdicense.”ld.
And, upon such expiration, CBS had a viable alternative: Both ASCAP anavBidIobliged
under their respective consent decrees to offer a VitiPle In other words, CB8ouldallow its

blanket license to expire, and still acquire the necessary performance-iiglgsd at the time
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of the oral argumentCBS h[e]ld[] nolicense from ASCAP."ld. at 937 n.8. By contrast, here,
SESAC is not requiretb offer a viablePPL; and there is strong evidence that its PRinifact,
illusory. Thus, based on tlsaimmary judgment recardjury could find that localstation
cannot avoid SESAC's blanket license, because no alternativis teatistically available.

SecondSESACdefendsts practiceson the facts SESACdenies intending tmsulate
its blanket license from competitiott. notesthatonly a smalfractionof its affiliates are subject
to the supplemental agreemen&eDef. 56.1  73.It alsodefends th@enalty provisions in
thoseagreements dsenign,claiming that they araimed at protecting and assuring a return on
the significant advanseSESAC had made tecruit thesartists. Seeid. I 74; Tr. 33.Plaintiffs
factually counterby emphasizing that the affiliates subject to the supplemental agreements
together account fdretweend3 and 50%f SESAC's total royaltieseePl. Resp. to Def. 56.1
73;see alsdHochstadt Decl. Ex. 139-42, argpresent the class affiliates whose music is
popular and ubiquitous on televisiony 8eterringdirect licensing by affiliatesvhose music is
“virtually unavoidable, plaintiffs ague,SESAC effectively compels stations to buy its blanket
license. PI. Br. 18.

At this juncture, the Court need not resolvephbeies’dispute as to the inferences to be
drawn from the facts in the recordlVith SESAC alone having moved faummary jidgment,
theonly issuebefore the Court is whether there is sufficient evidence on which a jury could find
that SESAC'’s practices qualified as a restraiet,thatthose practiceslosed off viable
alternatives to its blanket licensEor the reasonstated herand chronicled irmoredetail in
Jaffés expertreport, there is sufficient su@vidence. Becaug®aintiffs have not moved for

summary judgmengnd the Court has not been presented with expert analysis from SE®AC,
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Court has no occasion to consider the sufficiency or strength of SESAC’s caatsargn this
point.
2. Pro-Competitive Benefits Versus AnttCompetitive Effects

TheCourtnextconsiders, under the rule of reasahgther there is evidence on which a
jury could find that tle anticompetitive impact of SESAC'’s licensipgactices outweighs their
pro-competitive benefitd.e., whether there is harm to competition.

a. Market Definition

To demonstrate harm to competiti aplaintiff mustfirst prove a relevant market. The
test that courts most often utilize to define a relevant product market is the éasssity of
demand,” in other words, the extent to which one product is reasonably interchangdéable w
another.See Eastman Kodak Co. v. Image Tech. Servs.5bw¢.U.S. 451, 470 (1992)nited
States VE.I. du Pont de Nemours & C&51 U.S. 377, 400, 404 (195®)nited States v. Visa
U.S.A., Inc. 344 F.3d 229, 239 (2d Cir. 2003). Whdrere is such interchangeabilithose
producs fall within the same markeatpnversely, where thers not, those products exist in
different markets.Seek.l. du Pont 351 U.S. at 400.

Here, plaintiffsclaimthat the relevant market iseimarket fotelevisionperformance
rightsto works within £ESAC’s repertory.SeePl. Br. 6, 46-41. The facts in thsummary
judgment record offer strong supptot plaintiffs’ proposed market definitionSpecifically, the
evidence in the recor@onstrued in the light most favorable to plaintiffs, strongly suppaith
of thethree propositionthat, when cast aslegations Judge Buchwald held together sufficed to
allegethis product marketSeeMTD Op. at 25.

First, virtually all composers affiliate with only one of the three PR8seDef 56.1

1 20; PI. 56.1 § 209affeRep. 17.Secongdalmost all local stations have licenses from all three
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PROs. SeePl. 56.1 11 206, 200affeRep. 22.As a practical matter, a station must have such
licenses, because it is unable to control—or, sometimes, even idewtifgt-music is contained
within third-party programs Seelaffe Rep. 22 Third, local stations have not responded to
SESAC's price increases by replacing SESAC licenses with alternative lic&esfd. 56.1

19 190, 192, 193, 214, 215, 20&ffeRep. 50, 56, 8586. Together, this evidence supplies an
ample factual basis on which theder of fact could conclude that the relevant product market is
bounded, or defined, by SESAC's repertoB8ee Eastman Kodak04 U.S. 82 (“[tlhe proper
market definition. . .can be determined only after a factual inquiry into the commercial realities
faced by consumerginternal quotation marks and citation omitied)

As Jaffe explaingnoreover, faintiffs’ market definition isconfirmedby applying the
“SSNIP” test isedby theDOJand the Federal Trade Commission in evaluating potential
horizontal mergersSeelaffe Rep. 5557. The test helps assess whether a gimenger or
acquisition will harm competition in a given market; it inquinesv buyers would respond to a
hypothetical monopolist’s imposition of a “small mignificant and nortransitory increase in
price,” or SSNIP SeeUnited States Dep’t of Justice & Federal Trade Comiarjzontal
Merger Guidelinesavailable atwww.ftc.gov/0s/2010/08/100819hmg.pdf (Aug. 19, 20{0e
“Guidelines™). The test askahetherbuyerswould respondo such a price increadg opting
for alternatives, thus rendering the price increase unprofjtiflsie the proposed product market
is drawn t@ narrowly See idat 8-10. By contrast, a market is “properly defined under the
Guidelines when a hypothetical profitaximizing firm selling all of the product in that market
could charge significantly more than a competitive piieg,withoutlosing so many sales to
other products that its price became unprofitabkemiigra Grp., LLC v. Fragomen, Del Rey,

Bernsen & Loewy, LLF612 F. Supp. 2d 330, 352 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (Kaplanjérnal
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guotation marks and citation omittedjlere,there isevidencehat, despit@ material increase
the price of SESACblanket liceaseduring 2008-2012he relevant consumers (lo¢alevision
stations) did not respond by substituting another prod®®CAP or BMI licenses)‘[ijndeed,
essentially 100% of local television stations continued to license performghtsefrom
SESAC despite this increase, rather than switching to some other grddifet Rep. 56

The evidence would not permit the conclusion, and SESAC does not argue, that the
market parameters can be drawn more broadly, to also include the music in the ABCEMI
repertories. That proposition is defeated by two fagd¥stations that alreadyossess blanket
licenses from ASCAP and BMI nonetheless consistently purchase SESAE@dicand2) the
price for licenses for ASCAP and BMI music has not held back the price for licghSESAC
music, which rose significantly during the period 2008 to 28&eJaffe Rep. 2262.

SESACinsteadproposes a narrower market definition—defiaéthe level of the
performance rights to eachusical work Under longstanding industry practice, the right to
perform musiembedded in a television prograsmsold separakg from, and later than, the
programitself. As a result, as all parties concede, a television station that acqthinelsparty
program is “locked in” to playinthe musicembedded in, or baked inthat program. Def. Br.
44-49. Relying on the testimony of plaintiffs’ expert Jaffe, SESAC arghat from the
standpoint of a station that has already committed to broadcasting a particgtanprine right
to perform one piece of music is not interchangeable with the right to peaforiother piece of
musiG and thusainyone SESAC song is not readily substitutable for anotSee idat 47.
Whatevetthe price othe license tplay a givensong, a station that wishes to buy a completed
program will not—andcannot—eplacewithin that programan expensiveongwith another,

less expensive sond.hus SESAC argas there is no interchangeability among songs, and
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plaintiffs cannot prove a broadezievant marketlet alone harm to competition in suchmarket.
See idat 44-49.

Forseveral reasons, the Court finds SESAC’s contrary market definition unconvascing
a basis for granting summary judgment. First, market definitoa highly factual one best
allocated to the trier of fatt.Fineman v. Armstrong World Indus., In880 F.2d 171 (3d Cir.
1992). Only SESAC has moved for summary judgment; and thus, the only issue before the
Court as to market definition is whether there is sufficient evidence on whiehn aftfactcould
adopt plaintiff’'s market definitionSeeABA Section on Antitrust LawAntitrust Law
Development§20 (6th ed. 200)Definition of the relevant market is generally considered a
guestion for the trier of fact . . . . The jury may accept the market definition proppsétidy
party or may develop its own definition based upon the evidenseg)also Lewis v. Philip
Morris Inc., 355 F.3d 515 (6th Cir. 2004) (“defining the product markets a.factual inquiry
for the jury; the court may not weigh evigenor judge witness credibility” (internaligtations
marks and citations omitted))-or the reasons reviewed above, there clearly is such evidence in
the record, and indeed it is strong.

More fundamentallySESAC’sdefinition of the markets problematic It takes as a
given aquirky feature ofcurrentmarket structure-i.e., thecleaving into two separate markets
(1) the sales of television programs g@dlthe performance rights as to the musical work
embedded in those programdiatitself maywell betraceableo the longstanding pctce of
the PROsn collectivizing intoone product the performance rights of multigtasts’ work
Absent the offer oblanket licenseby the PROsthe market for performance rightstte songs
in third-party programmingnight well have developed fierently. SeeUnited States v. ASCAP

1993 WL 60687, at *17 (notintpe need, given the existence of PROs regulated by consent
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decree, to “recreate” a “theoretical competitive market” of “competing licensosgtting
reasonable prices for music licensemaffe Rep. 1820 (explaining that, absent the advent of the
blanket licensethere might have been price competition among sahgach stagesuch that
the cost of the rights to one song would affect the price to anothema@mednterchangeability
among songsuch thatelevision sations, considering which programs to buy, might have been
forced to factoin thelicensingcosts of embedded songnd, as to the two largest PROs,
ASCAP and BMI, consent decrees have long been in place to cabandély recognized
potential of this practice to harm competitidbee, e.g., ASCAP v. Showtj@&2 F.2d at 570
(noting that “as a potential combination in restraint of trade, ASCAP has beeedmsihby the
[consent] decree’ (internal quotation mar&nd citation omitted) (alteration in original)).

FurthermoreSESAC’sbid to define thenarke as at the level of each songuld place
SESAC'’s blanket license outside the scope of the antitrust laws. On this tHe8ACENd its
affiliates could bandogether to fullyinsulate the blanket license from eiimpetition, and then
charge as high a price teeywantedfor this allor-nothing license to their collective wqrk
withoutany recourse for aggrieved partieghe antitrust laws When agked at argumenivere
each song treated as its own markety there could ever be liabilifpr a PRQ SESAC’s
counsel could not identify any such scenario, barringhariggin] the dynamics of the market.”
Tr. 24;seealso id.at23-25. The Court is unwilig to accept SESAC’s premitet its
behavior with regard to the offer to television stations of its blanket license mdimnstfree
zone.

Finally, it is no answer that the development of the modern market for perforngtrtse
may not be SESACult. While the dynamics in the market fperformance rights for music

in third-party programmingnay well havepredatedSESACs rise seeDef. Br. 37 (stating that
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SESAC “played a relatively minor role in performance rights licensirig the 1990s”);Jaffe
Rep. 4142, market definitions unconcerned witfault. As a market participan§ESACis
subject to the strictures of the Sherman Act regardless of the timing and ¢ancoessof its
market entry.
b. Harm to Competition

The remaining issue whether, within the market for the performance rights to works
within SESAC'’s repertory, the evidence could support findings that SESAC’s cdratautd
competition and that this harm outweighed gmp-competitive benefitef that conduct. The
evidencas more than sufficient to support such findings.

Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to plaintiffs, a trier ofcfadd find
harm tocompetition in the market for performance rigint€onnection wh third-party
programming.As Jaffes report convincingly articulates, since 2008, fewer licensing opdiens
realistically available to stationand stations must paypracompetitiveprices for theone
license thats available—SESAC'’s blanket licenseSeelaffe Rep. 6483. Thisevidence is
sufficient to establish competitive harBee Visa344 F.3cat 238 (“substantial adverse effects
on competition” include “increases in price, or decreases in output or quality”).

SESACresponds by articulating variopso-competitivebenefis ofits blanket license
including those identified by the CourtBMI v.CBS *“the integration of sales, monitoring, and
enforcement against unauthorized copyright’ugell U.S. at 20At trial, SESAC will be at
liberty to defend its licensing prao¢s as mor@ro-competitivethanantrcompetitive. And
plaintiffs, for their partwill be at liberty to attempt toprove that any legitimate competitive
benefits offered by defendants could have been achieved through less resteeings’m

Geneva Parms. Tech. Corp386 F.3d at 507. It is not for the Court, on SESAC’s motion for
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summary judgmento resolve this debate, particularly without the benefit of SESAC’s expert
analysis or competing evidence on these poihte weighingof thesecontentions is properly
left for trial. See id(“Ultimately, thefactfindermust engage in a careful weighing of the
competitive effects of the agreemestioth pro and con-te determine if the effects of the
challenged restraint tend to promote or destaypetition” (emphasis added)MTD Op. 30
(noting that‘[w]hile the previous antitrust challenges to the ASCAP and BMI licenaes heen
unsuccessful, . . . all were decided after full trials on the merits”).

In sum,plaintiffs have adduced evidencpamn which a jury could findoetween SESAC
and those affiliates who have entered into supplemental affiliation agreg@meoimbination in
restraint of tradein violation of 8 1. SESAC’s motion for summary judgment on Count One is,
therefore, denied.

V. Plaintiffs’ Section 2 Claims

A. Sherman Act Section ZStandard

Section 2 of the Sherman Act addressei$ateral, as opposed to concerted, condlict.
prohibits “monopoliz[ing], or attempt[ing] to monopolize, or combin[ing] or conspifwith
any other person or persons, to monopolize any part of . . . trade or commerce.” 15 U.S.C. § 2.
To establish & 2 violation, a plaintiff mustlemonstrate “(1) the possession of monopoly power
in the relevant market and (2) the willful acquigitior maintenance of that power as
distinguished from growth or development as a consequence of a superior products busines
acumen, or historic accidentUnited States v. Grinnell Corp384 U.S. 563, 570-71 (1966ge
also Verizon Comm’ns Inc. v. Law Offices of Curtis V. Trinko,, 1940 U.S. 398, 407 (2004)

(“Trinkd"); PepsiCo, Inc. v. Coca-Cola Cp315 F.3d 101, 105 (2d Cir. 2002).
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This second element plays a critical roldimiting the 8 2 cause of action. As the
Supreme Court haamphasized‘[tjhe mere possession of monopoly power, and the concomitant
charging of monopoly prices, is not only not unlawful; it is an important element of &e fre
market system. Trinko, 540 U.S. at 407. “To safeguard the incentive to innovate, the
possession of monopoly power will not be found unlawful unless it is accompanied by an
element of anticompetitiveonduct” Id. (emphasis in original)Accordingly, the conduct that
cansupport a 8 Xiolation isnarrower than the conduct on which a qorecy in restraint of
tradein violation of 8 1 may be foundSee Copperweldi67 U.S. at 767, 769That is because
concerted conduct amoimgultiple entities presents special antitrust dangespresented by
unilateral conduct, “warrant[ing] scrutiny even in the absence of incipient mgnbpdl at
769.

Specifically,8 2 proscbes“[tlhe use of monopoly poweto foreclose competition, to
gain a competitive advantage, or to destroy a competit&iastman Kodaks04 U.Sat482-83
(quotingUnited States v. Griffiti334 U.S. 100, 107 (1948)). [E]xclusionary[conduct]
comprehends at the most behavior that not only (1) tends to impair the opportunities ,of rivals
but also (2) either does not further competition on the merits or does so in an unngcessaril
restrictive way.” Aspen Skiing Co. v. Aspen Highlands Skiing Gerp2 U.S. 585, 605 n.32
(1985) (quoting 3 Philip Areeda & Donald F. Turn&ntitrust Law78 (1978)). Examples of
suchconduct includeredatory pricing, some unilaterafusals to deal with rivals, and the tying
of distinct products such that a seller sells a product only on condition that the buyaispuac
separate, “tied” productLike the test foig 1 liability, the determini@gon of §2 liability calls for
a weighng of the exclusionary conduct agaimsty “valid business reason$dr it. Eastman

Kodak 504 U.S. at 483%ee also United States v. Microsoft Cogb3 F.3d 34 (D.C. Cir. 2001)
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(“[1]f a plaintiff successfully establishespima faciecase under 8 2ftdemonstrating
anticompetitive effect, then the monopolist may proffer a procompetitive justifidatiots
conduct . . . . [l]f the monopolist’s procompetitive justification stands unrebutted, then the
plaintiff must demonstrate that the anticompegitharm of the conduct outweighs the
procompetitive benefit.(internal quotation marks omitted)
B. Monopolization
Plaintiffs argue here that SESAC has monopoly power in the market formparfce
rights tothe works in its repertory, and has maintained it through “overt exclusionary acts
These include
(i) preventing select SESAEffiliated composers from entering into
direct license agreements with music users; (ii) tying together all
musical compositions, including both unwanted and desired
compositons . . . into an albr-nothing blanket license; (iii) refusing to
offer Plaintiffs and members of the Class a viable alternative form of
license to its albr-nothing blanket license; (iv) refusing to offer users
fair and reasonable interim licenses pagdesolution of negotiations;
and (v) refusing to negotiate in good faith, which have restrained and
impeded the growth of its existing or potential competitors and
competitive licensing arrangements.

Am. Compl.  86.

Assuming thathe relevant markes found to behatfor performance rights to music in
SESAC's repertoryit is undisputedhat SESAC possesses monopoly power at tihharket. See
Def. Br. 58 (“plaintiffs have defined the relevant market in such a mannesE%AC inevitably
will have orerwhelming market share™$ee alsdMTD Op. 39 (“where SESAC holds nearly
100% of the relevant market it is clear that [plaintiffs] have established monopegr’). It

also appears undisputed that SESAC has the powentool prices over that markas currently

structured.SeelaffeRep.57-64, 86—89.
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SESACinstead challenges the second element. It artha¢qals a matter of logic,
SESAC'’s ‘monopoly’ over its own product—a product that, by definition, nobody else can
sell—cannot have resulted from conduct that is wrongflilieéf Br.58-59. Buthatdoes not
necessarilyollow. As Jaffe explaindut for SESAC’s actions tagelchalternatives to its
blanket licenseghesellers in thenarketfor performance rights tdné music of its affiites
would also include the individual rightsholdénemselves These composers or publishers
could, for example, issudirect licenses to stations, much as ASCAP’s and BMI's memioers d
Put differently,although SESAC by definition has a monopoly over “its own produtiit—
blanket icenseto SESAC affiliates’ musie-it does not inexorably have a monopoly over all
performance rights to such music.

The issue then whetherthere is evidence on which a jury could find t8&SAC has
engagedn exclusionary conductHere,the claimed exclusionary conduct is much the same as
formed the basis dhe § 1 claim It includes thepenaltiesmposed ordirect licensing by
affiliates, andhe unrealistigricing of SESAC’sPPL And, for the same reasons that there is
sufficient evidenceo survive summary judgment on Count Onerdhg sufficient evidence to
survive on Count Two. In sum, there is sufficient evidence upon which a jury could find that
SESACtook action to maintain and fortify its monopayer licensing of its affiliates’ worky
adoptinglicensing practices thaliminated all realistic competition wiits blanket license
SESAC does not appear to disptitat, as a matter of law, the claimed aiftexclusion are
legally cognizable under § 2.

In a separate argumeESACassertshat it cannot be liable fgrecluding its affiliates
from competing whethese affiliatesare the'alleged beneficiaries of the purported scheme to

monopolize.” Def. Reply Br. 24. But that does not followaimiffs arefreeto argueat once
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that affiliatesbenefit froma collusivescheme a PRO hé#&ashioned for their beneféndthatthe
PRO has done so by barritteem fromoffering competing products its own SESACcites no
authority to the effect thatyherethe monopolist i& PRO, itsactsto blockaffiliates from

offering competitive productsreimmune from reviewinder§ 2. In considering this point, the
uniquerelationship between SESAC and its affiliatesnot be ignoredin a competitive world,
affiliates could license their rights directly to statiamsl compete with SESAC. The long line
of cases involving ASCAP and BMl is, in fact, premised on the value of preserving doidgna
competition with the PRO®lanket licensing, including via direct licensing anaffiliate of its
own music.

Finally, asto the 8 claim,the Court must considéne balance of proompetitive
benefits and anttompetitive effects Neither party has argued that this balance is to be analyzed
any differenty under 8 thanunder § 1. As under § 1, the Court finds that plaintiffs have
adduced sufficient evidence upon which a jury could findttt@atnticompetitive effects of
SESAC's licensing practices outweigh thgio-competitive virtues Summary judgment is
therefore denied as to Count Two.

C. Conspiracy to Monopolize

Having held that the evidence is sufficient to warrant a findirgpo€erted action among
SESAC ancertainaffiliates, and also sufficient to warrant a findinggd liability for
monopolizationthe Court must also sustaiount Three, which allegescanspiracy to
monopolizeamong SESAC and the affiliates subject to supplemental affiliation agreements

“Under § 2of the Sherman Act, the offense of conspiraynonopolize requires proof
of (1) concerted action, (vert acts in furtherance of the conspiracy, and (3) specific intent to

monopolize” Volvo N. Amer. Corp. v. Men’s Int’'| Professional Tennis Coul&V F.2d 55, 74
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(2d Cir. 1988); see also Int’l Distribution Ctrs., Inc. v. Walsh Trucking Co., 812 ¥.2d 786, 795
(2d Cir, 1987). Neither party argues that Count Three presents unique issues; they agree that this
claim is based on the same conduct as its monopolization claim. See Def. Br. 57; Am. Compl.
€9 94-96. For the reasons already stated, the evidence is sufficient to prove concerted action and
a specific intent to monopolize. As to the second element, overt acts in furtherance of the
conspiracy, any one of the alleged practices of which plaintiffs complain would constitute an
overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy. See Volvo N. Amer. Corp., 857 F.2d at 74. The Court
therefore finds the evidence adduced sufficient to withstand SESAC’s motion for summary
judgment on Count Three.
CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, SESAC’s motion for summary judgment is denied as to all
three counts, save that the Court narrows the § | claim in two ways: The Court rejects, as a
matter of law, plaintiffs’ (1) per se theory of § 1 liability; and (2) claim of an agreement to
restrain trade among all 20,000-plus SESAC affiliates, as opposed to among only those affiliates
who were party to a supplemental atfiliation agreement with SESAC.

The Clerk of Court is respectfully directed to terminate all pending motions in this case.

The Court will issue shortly an order with respect to next steps in this case.

SO ORDERED. P mf }Q E W

Paul A. Engelmayer
United States District Judge

Dated: March 3, 2014
New York, New York
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